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THE HEARING RESUMED AT 9.45 AM





MR MURRAY ADDRESSES CHAIR

MR MURRAY:   Madam Chair, just before my friend continues, could I just indicate that Dr Farnsworth is on a plane this evening just after 7.00, and if the hearing went until 5.30 and Dr Farnsworth was unexpectedly still giving evidence, that would be all right, but after that we would have to re-arrange things.

CHAIR:   Okay, we will start on Dr Farnsworth.  There were some housekeeping matters, but we will leave them until tomorrow.

MR HINDLE:    I should indicate, ma'am, that Dr Wain has similar problems, he was expecting to be here today.  So tomorrow morning he runs into problems, I think he has to leave at 10.00.

CHAIR:   Right.   Mr Grieve.



XXN MR GRIEVE:   

Q:   Dr Farnsworth, just a short matter first of all.  I understand that when a laboratory screens a slide in the standard way by using primary screeners first with abnormalities reviewed by a pathologist, the practice is to mark questioned abnormalities, is that correct?

A:   That’s correct.

Q:   When your laboratory received the Gisborne slides, had the markings, if there were any originally, been removed?

A:   Yes, they had. 

Q:   Now I want to come to this issue that was dealt with at some length yesterday, but from time to time there were various, it appears to me in any event reading the transcript, some interruption to your train of thought and what you were going to say.  And Madam Chair I’m referring to the passage that runs from p1661 of the transcript through to p1673. Now that’s yesterday’s, I don’t know whether you have it in hard copy, we don’t as yet but I’ve printed it out.  So I’ll give page references so that you can follow it.

CHAIR:   Thank you very much.

MR GRIEVE:    Now you’ll recall that you started out by saying that you wanted to comment on the incidence of cervical cancer in this Gisborne area, remember that?

A:   Yes.

Q:   And one of the points that you made early on, and it’s at p1661, line 11, and there are other references to it which I’ll mention in a moment, but one of the major points you made in this section of your evidence yesterday was that what you were seeing when you did the re-read you thought was most unusual.

A:   That’s right.

Q:   And during the course of this passage of evidence to which I have referred, you referred, among other things, to the correlation between HSIL in Sydney with incidence in Sydney, correct?

A:   That’s right.

Q:   And you also referred to the incidence in Vietnam as being 27/100,000?

A:   That’s right.

Q:   And you referred to a similar correlation observed by John Hopkins University people in Zimbabwe, 10% of HSIL and 66/100,000?

A:   That’s right.

Q:   And in that context you referred to Gisborne at 30/100,000 as being very high given that the population was screened to a degree, correct?

A:   That’s right.

Q:   Having opened up that point, there were then questions about the ease with which you were able to get figures as to incidence in this area and you then went on to – and I’m now, Madam Chair at about page 1665.  You were asked this having just mentioned the percentage of high grade smears that you found on the re-read  at being I think 2.53%.  You were asked at the top of page 60 and 65, now can you tell me with that high level of identification of high grades is that consistent with what you now know the incidence of cervical cancer to be in the Tairawhiti region and you said it's a possible explanation, it's a crude number and there are many reasons why you can have a high incidence of cervical cancer in any area and referred to the fact that it was a multi-factorial process.  Do you remember that?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Now then you said we know this is an area where the women, the target population were screened and screened very adequately and you then referred again to the normal reason and you said worldwide for there being a coincidence between HSIL incidence and incidence of cervical cancer being that there are no screening programmes in place where there is that correlation.

A:   	In fact what I was meaning there and maybe it wasn’t very clear was that the normal reason for having a very high incidence of cervical cancer in a population is because the women don’t have the availability of pap smears and in fact my reference to the Zimbabwe numbers which you’ve quoted there accurately, the only time I’ve actually ever seen an incidence of high grade abnormalities in an unscreened population because these women don’t normally have pap smears so therefore the literature, the scientific literature, is extraordinarily scant.

Q:   	Right.  Now you then made the point and used terms such as “most unusual” and “striking” were two of your phrases, to have such a high incidence, that is 30 per 100,000 in an area of apparently screened women i.e. here.  That's correct?

A:   	That's correct.

Q:   	As you’ve just said very unusual.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Now then you went on and said referring to the fact that you thought it would be logical that you would see more high grades in a population with a high incidence, you then went on and at 1666 lines 7 through to 12 is where you referred to Zimbabwe and I’m just giving those references so the committee of inquiry can follow it when they get the written transcript.  Now it was at about that point that Professor Duggan asked you the question, she said that you’d been saying a lot of important things over the previous 10 minutes or so and in terms of the evidence of the logical rationale supporting the observation of the relationship that were talking about, and she asked you if you could list the reasons and you then referred again to the conventional wisdom of HSIL, with a high incidence HSIL, with high incidence of cervical cancer being that in those circumstances normally the population doesn’t have access to pap smears correct?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And then you went on and said there are a number of other possibilities as to why you might have high incidence.  The first being poor pap smears meaning that they would not be adequate in terms of appropriate sampling.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	And you observed that from what you say in the cohort of slides in the re-read  the presence of appropriate cellular material, endocervical cells was about 85% so that that reason goes out doesn’t it?

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	The second reason you gave was, and the first reason Madam Chair is 1667 line 15, the second reason is at 1667 line 22, you said the other possibility of course is that there’s no follow up, for some reason the facilities aren’t there, the woman gets lost to follow up, goes off and develops cervical cancer.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	And you then observed that your understanding of the Gisborne region was that the women were screened, they were good samples and they had appropriate follow up.

A:   	That was my understanding.

Q:   	You then, we’re going to go on and say something, you said it would therefore seem logical that, and at that point there was an interruption in the form of an objection from Mr Hodson, and I’m now at page 1668 Madam Chair, that was the subject of some discussion and there was then reference to figures that we have here relating to screening percentages as per the screening programme.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	And you will recall that you were taken through those figures, you looked at Ms Glackin’s evidence do you remember?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And you looked at Ms Mellor’s supplementary brief.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	Now just so I can deal with this question of the degree to which the population could be regarded as screened, in the context of examining whether that is a reason for the high correlation that we’ve been talking about, you referred to Ms Mellor’s supplementary brief at page 45.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	And that Madam Chair is at 1672 starting at line 4 going through to about 11.  Could you be shown that Madam Registrar, Mellor supplementary page 45.

A:   	I’ve got it.

Q:   	Now having looked at that you said that looking at page 45 you can see that the population of women we’re looking at in that period is greater than 50%, 5,542 in fact had one pap smear in that 5 year period.  Now I can see that figure top right hand corner of table 4.1, I have to confess having looked at this during the early hours of this morning I couldn’t really work out what this jolly table means and I wonder if you could explain it to me first of all.  Number of slides re-read does that mean that some people in the re-read  had in excess of, well up to 14 slides?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	So that there was one woman it would appear –

A:   	That had had 14 slides.  There were a number of women in this group that had had more than one slide and this is in fact just an enumeration of the number of slides each of the women had had, and then it’s just tabulated.   So it shows, in fact, and when we are talking about the first line – which is that there was over 5,000 women who’d just had one slide but then there were numerous women, obviously, and actually I haven't summed that and I’m not going to do it right now because - I could but, who’d had more than one slide.

Q:   So that, looking at the first two lines, there's something over 9,000 have had one or two smears, isn't there?

A:   That’s right.   Remember in the re-read there were 23 or 22,000 approximate – I’ll just talk around 23,000 smears, but there were 12,000 women involved.   So that’s why there is the discrepancy, and again, remember we’re talking about women –

Q:   Hang on, just take it slowly.   That is why there is the discrepancy between what?

A:   The women – 12,108 women, and 23,000 slides.   There weren't 23,000 women.

Q:   I understand that.  Now one thing I don’t follow though is what is the significance of the columns across the top, 0 through to 6?  How does that work?  Is that years, is it?

A:   No, no, no.  No, no, no, no.   That’s the number of re-read results who had a high degree of abnormality than the original result.  So that, for instance, if you just take the upper left hand, the 5,000 – so there was, very simply put, in that there were 5,038 women who had had one Pap smear in the 5 year period of the re-read where the results were exactly the same.   So there was no discrepancy.  Go just along that column, there was 504 women who had had one slide during the 5 year period who had one discrepancy, because it’s been in fact one of the reasons why the correlations and the actual histological follow-up, as I understand it, and given that I haven't actually been involved in it, but certainly I've been very keen to see, for obvious reasons, what the follow up was.   But one of the reasons why it’s been very difficult – and I also know when one sets up Pap test registers and when one actually looks at analysis of Pap smear results in any situation, whether it be in a re-read or in a general population, there is always this issue of women v slides v cases.   So, for instance, I’m just saying with the actual analysis of the results, there was a big job for the Health Funding Authority to actually correlate the women v the slides.

Q:   I understand that.

A:   And that’s why an effort has been made to tabulate it.



CHAIR:   Dr Farnsworth, could I just ask you this:   there are 6 grades up at the top and I see, for example, if you take number of slides re-read for one, there were 504 women where there was a difference of one grade.   What seems to me to be lacking with this table is a legend which actually identifies what each grade is.

A:   No, no.  No, no, no, no, these aren't grades, these are actually just number of slides.   So for instance again – no, this isn't the degree of abnormality, these are just any difference between the original result and the re-read result.



MR GRIEVE:   Can I just ask you doctor, I’m glad that somebody else is having difficulty because I thought I was alone in this, but could I just ask you this, if you just listen to what I ask, and I may have it wrong and you can correct me.   From what you said, am I right that 5038 women had one smear and on re-read that was read consistent with the original read?

A:   that’s exactly right.



CHAIR:   How do we know that?

A:   That’s from the table.  It’s entirely from the table.

Q:   Yes, but what in the table tells us that – the 0?

A:   the 0, yes.

Q:   This is what I’m trying to understand.  The next column, 504, there is a 1.   What does that 1 tell us?

A:   That means that there was 1 slide or 1 Pap smear that was different.  There were 504 women who had one slide during that 5 year period that were read as different by the re-read to the original result.

Q:   Now when you refer to that one where does the figure 1 that you're now referring to appear?

A:   On the horizontal, numerical value across the top.   So 0, 1, 2, 3, 4 across the top.   They refer – that top line refers to the number of abnormal smears – sorry, it refers to the number of smears that were read as different by the Sydney re-read.



MR GRIEVE:   Perhaps it will help if I take one more example.  Let’s move to a little more difficult line.   If we go down the column to number 6 on the left hand column, correct?

A:   Uh huh.

Q:   And we will move through to the right to the 5th column where the number 5 appears. 

A:   Uh huh.

Q:   Am I right in assuming that this means that this was a case involving women who had 6 smears in total?

A:   that’s right.

Q:   6 smears each?

A:   Yes.

Q:   And if we go across to the number 5 we know that of those women, and there was a total of 90 across on the right hand side who had 6 smears, of that corpus of 90 five of them had – sorry, now –

A:   Do you want me to tell you?   Five of those 6 women – imagine 6 women lined up.

Q:   Yeah.

A:   5 of those 6 women –

CHAIR:   I thought there were 90 women?

A:   Sorry.   Five of those 90 women, who had had 6 different Pap smears in that 5 year period, 4 of those 6 Pap smears were read incorrectly.   Ergo 2 had actually been read not correctly – sorry, that’s –

MR GRIEVE:   Differently.

CHAIR:   where is the ? four?

WITNESS:   Had been read differently, yes.

CHAIR:   I thought we were –

WITNESS:  We’re talking about -

CHAIR:   - getting into 5?

WITNESS:   And in fact what Mr Grieve is referring to –

MR GRIEVE:   Just pause doctor, would you please.  We have just got to take this slowly.

WITNESS:   I’m sorry.

MR GRIEVE:   It’s not your fault, it’s our ignorance, and I know that these tables aren't your work, but we need to understand them.  Madam Chair, the 5, going down the vertical axis you've got the number 6.

CHAIR:   Yes.

MR GRIEVE:   And you go across under the number 4 on the horizontal axis and you've got the figure 5.   And I just chose that at random as an example to see if I can get the jolly thing right and I've got it wrong.

CHAIR:   Well, I was completely lost because I thought the 5 you were referring to when you were posing your question was the 5 way up at the top, running horizontally.   So it’s very easy to get lost here.

MR GRIEVE:   It is, and that’s my fault.

CHAIR:   I rely on Dr Duggan actually.  It’s faith gets me through this.

MR GRIEVE:   I can see that Madam Chair, but you see we’re not so fortunate.   I think we now understand this table, doctor, and I’m not going to go through the agony of another example.  But I suppose one observation to be made is that if you start totalling all the vertical columns from 1 (in including vertical column 1 to the right), those are all slides that you read differently, aren't they?

A:   Going from –

Q:   Vertical column one?

A:   Yes, excluding the 10,000 number on the far –

Q:   Under the 0?

A:   Yeah, exactly.   But again we’re talking about women here, Mr Grieve.

Q:   Women, I understand that.  However, you rely on, or referred to this figure of 5542 women, top right hand corner, out of 12,100 odd, as together with Ms Glackin’s material to enable you to say this, and it's at 1672 line 11, your observation was so that is not an unreasonable screening rate, it's greater than 50% it's in a 5 year period, that is not that high I must admit but it is not as low as would be reflect in the Registry figures, in other words and I right that you were saying that those figures that we’ve just looked at reflect a higher screening percentage or rate than the percentages you were referred to from the screening programme.

A:   	In fact it's interesting when I look at this again and yesterday I was shown this as an example and I must admit I hadn’t had time to analyse this but in essence, what this means, the 12,108 women, they are the women who had had pap smears.  The actual screening rate will be that 12,108 women v.’s the eligible screen population in the Gisborne area.  And in fact I do know that there’s a population here somewhere –

Q:   	Just pause because I’ll give it to you.  We’re gonna deal with this methodically.  If you look please at cancer of the cervix uteri, Tracey Mellor 92 and if you look at page 17 you have there 1991 and 1996 census figures and they are divided in maori and total and it looks like the available target population is round about on average 23,000 for the period.

A:   	That's right.  No excuse me that's not the target population.  This is the total number of women.  When in screening we talk about target populations we talk about the ages of screening so you don’t screen young children obviously and you don’t screen markedly elderly women so I don’t know, so that is a total population of women from the age of 0 through to whatever, so that’s not your target population and when we talk about screening rates in any population we talk about it entirely within that designated screening group.

Q:   	I understand.



CHAIR INTERJECTS 

CHAIR:   	Just to clear this up, in New Zealand it's for 20-65 is the age frame.

MR GRIEVE:   	For screening?

CHAIR:   	Yes.



MR GRIEVE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MR GRIEVE:   	So we’ve got to reduce that population figure, and I don’t know whether we have any accurate figures as to target populations for Tairawhiti, so as you say it's less than that figure given in that.

A:   	Absolutely yes.

Q:   	Now I interrupted you this time.  You were going to go on and say that having reconsidering the Tracey Mellor figures, did you want to change the observation you made yesterday about whether the population was reasonably well screened or not.

A:   	Yes and in fact I do recollect my conversation with Tracey Mellor at the morning tea break and in fact she was quite right.  She hadn’t misinformed me –

Q:   	Just pause please doctor.  You’ve obviously been given information by various sources, some of it documentary and some of it oral but what I want from you, and I’m sure what the committee of inquiry will want, is not what someone else tells you but your view on the situation.  We’re not strictly bound by the rules of evidence but we need an informed opinion on this question.

A:   	OK, what it means is that there are 12,108 women who had had pap smears in that time.  Given a population in that area of 23,000 that would be less you are actually looking at a screening rate of greater than 50% and if one looked at the whole population of women it would be greater than 50% and given that that will be reduced by a factor which I don’t know, it will obviously be higher again so you in fact are looking at a – and I say this with all due consideration for the screening rates in populations that I know of, you’re looking at a reasonably screened rate.  I’ll give you numbers and Dr Wayne can give you other numbers but in NSW our screening rate at a 2 year interval is around still only about 63% and I know that there are areas in Sydney where we do have breakdown of screening rates by geographical areas that have screening rates of 53% of their women.

Q:   	Just pause.



MR HODSON INTERJECTS

MR HODSON:   	The problem is every time we get an answer a new factor is introduced.  If you put in the two year interval you change it all.  Just try please to stick to apples and apples.



CHAIR INTERJECTS

CHAIR:   	Yes I want to deal with this too.  If you finish you answer I’d like to come in.



MR GRIEVE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

A:   	And I was actually going to come to that because that's a very reasonably point which is that of course that's a two year screening interval so that when your looking at a 5 year screening interval –

Q:   	Well we’re 3 here.

A:   	Well again we don’t have those numbers here in terms of how many had it within the 3 yearly screening interval but you are still looking at a population who have had in my opinion a reasonable number of pap smears.  This is probably not adequate screening but it's certainly not –

Q:   	Unscreened in terms of availability?

A:   	That's how I’d put it yes.  And look I appreciate the years and I appreciate all those things but there is still – these women have had a reasonable number of pap smears in that time.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Dr Farnsworth how do we know the years in which these women were having pap smears read from this table?

A:   	We don’t, we only know the timeframe, we know from 1991-March 1996.

Q:   	Right.  So for all we know a large number of these women might have come on to the programme or started having smears taken late in say 1995?

A:   	They may have yes.

Q:   	In other words on t basis of this information it is possible  that you have women who haven’t been screened before who have the papanicalaou type cells when they are smeared for the first time and they come into the programme in 1995.  You can’t exclude that from this table can you?

A:   	No you can’t.

Q:   	Now the other things it seems to me if you go back to the Glackin evidence at page 64, you will see there from that table in 1991 the percentage of women screened in Tairawhiti was 14 and the national average was 7.

A:   	No that's not the percentage of women screened that the percentage of women who chose to have their details put on to the opt on at the time register.

Q:   	We don’t know how many were screened apart from that do we?

A:   	Exactly.  By the way I’m sure there is some numbers somewhere that actually show – because of course we were receiving all these pap smears per year and so there will be – I know that there’s been a breakdown about rates of call per year, there will be a breakdown of numbers of paps per year somewhere that we received.

Q:   	Well just hold on.  Lets work through this.  At the moment, according to this table we know that 14% of the female population of Tairawhiti had decided to go on to the programme?

A:   	No decided to have their details recorded on the Register.

Q:   	Now at the time the national average was 7.

A:   	Right.

Q:   	The following year we know that there were 24% of women decided to have their details recorded on the Register and that national average was 18.  In 1993 we know that 27% decided to have their details recorded on the Register, and the National average was 33%.

A:   That’s right.

Q:   And then in 1994, when the Register had become opt-off, we have 58% deciding to remain on the Register?

A:   That’s right.

Q:   At the moment, do you know where we can find information which will show us how many women between the years 91 to 94 were being screened but were not on the Register?

A:   Yes, I don’t know – I know that information’s available but I don’t have it.

Q:   Right, so we could ask Tracy Mellor to provide that?

A:   You could, absolutely.

Q:   Because without that information how can we make any judgement at all on a yearly basis of whether or not the population in Tairawhiti was well screened or not?

A:   You can't.

Q:   And until the numbers started to increase from 1994 onwards, it is quite possible, isn't it, that with the lower numbers shown in the earlier years that there were women out there whose condition may well have been at CIN 3 and who did not have smears done until 94/95 and at that time their smears would have represented the Papanicolaou type that you have referred to in para 22?

A:   Yes, that’s correct.

Q:   You can't rule that out?

A:   No, I can't.   Can I qualify something, though?

Q:   Yes, if you want to.  I just want to be sure of what we can know for certain, what we can't know for certain, what we can't rule out, what is based on assumption in terms of statistics and what isn't.

A:   Right.   The only qualification that I want to make, and when we’re talking about third world countries, and I agree that these are not actual numerical values, but those women don’t have any Pap smears.  So the reality is – I mean, when we’re talking about third world countries and high incidences of cervical cancer we’re not talking about any opportunity to have Pap smears.

Q:   But the problem is that when you saw these slides that you've referred to in para 22, you kept no record of them?

A:   that's right.  No, no.

Q:   We don’t know the names of the women, do we?

A:   No, we don’t.

Q:   Therefore, we can't go back and see whether they had had a smear or not in the past, can we?

A:   No.

Q:   It may well be that they are women who hadn't had smears in the past?

A:   Absolutely, yep.

Q:   And given the low rate of enrolment for example in 1991 and 1992, from what we know of the Screening Register, it is quite possible that there are women out there who did not have a smear until say 94 or 95?

A:   Quite right, yep.

Q:   You can't exclude that, can you?

A:   No I can't, no.



MR GRIEVE:   Now there is some material on this, and I think we should just refer to it now so that we can both get Dr Farnsworth’s comment and also group the material together.  There is first of all, Madam Chair, in Tracy Mellor’s volume 1, a reference to this question behind tab 6, which is a project brief at p3.  I accept that this is comment but it relates to the issue.   Page 3 in the middle of the page, two paras up from the heading “Wider Background”:   “Current Cervical Screening Register information based on 1999 projections suggest approximately 12,000 eligible women in the area”, and then there's reference to “90% enrolled, 5 year coverage rate under 86%, it is estimated that a maximum of 25% of eligible women may not have had a subsequent smear” etc.   So that there are those figures there, and the point about that is the estimate of eligible women.  

CHAIR:   The concern I have about this Mr Grieve, it talks about 90% being enrolled in the programme.   That I know is current.   It doesn't deal with how many were enrolled on the programme during the years that Dr Bottrill was practising.

MR GRIEVE:   Madam Chair I’m not seeking, by referring to this material, to answer the problems, just to collect the information.

CHAIR:   Yes.

MR GRIEVE:   And if we go then to the supplementary exhibits produced by Dr Peters, and we are talking about the material behind tab 47:  Peters supplementary, tab 47, if we look at p9 of that document, the working draft of the 1996 to 1998 screening programme statistical report for Tairawhiti, table 3 shows “currently enrolled women 11,161.”  Now again I accept that that doesn't address the detail of the earlier years, but for what it’s worth there's that information.  Now the other factor that I wanted to ask you about doctor, just in this connection and you can tell me whether it’s any use in the puzzle, is that we have been told – and I don’t think there's any dispute about it – that over the relevant period Dr Bottrill screened about 5,000 slides/annum.   Slides, not women.

A:   right.

Q:   Is that figure, recognising that it’s slides not women, of any assistance in determining coverage of women?

A:   I mean it’s very hard to say, but if there are 5,000 Pap smears being done a year in a potentially screening population of obviously under 23,000 – unless they’re having Pap smears every 6 months, that is a reasonable number of Pap smears in a given population.

Q:   Now let me come back to it then in this way:   given the factors that have been raised with you during the course of this discussion this morning, do you consider that the fact of the degree to which this population may have been screened or unscreened accounts for the high incidence of HSIL and the high incidence of cancer of the cervix.

A:   	Like most things it may be in fact multi factorial.  I mean I think that there's – I mean it has been my understanding that this was a reasonably screened population which is what I said and in essence it's not a perfectly screened population but these women have had a reasonable number of pap smears in that time.  I still believe that the incidence of cervical cancer in this region is to me surprisingly high given the number of pap smears that were actually being done in this area.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Dr Farnsworth if I could just ask you this now.  My understanding is that screening programmes work on the basis that there will be false negatives.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And that in a sense the built in safety net to overcome the problem created by false negatives is to screen on a cyclical basis.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	Be it 2 years as in NSW, 3 years in New Zealand and my understanding is the thesis behind that is that if the first smear is misread it will be picked up on the second smear reading is that correct?

A:   	It may be picked up on the second smear reading yes.

Q:   	Or if not the second the third.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	But it being thought that it would be unlikely that in a cyclical period where there are two or three smears taken, all of them would be misread is that correct?

A:   	Yes that's correct.

Q:   	And I understanding New Zealand when a woman first goes on the programme she has a smear and then there is a smear in 12 months time and then if both smears are normal, she goes onto a three yearly cycle, so the view there would be you have one smear, another smear in 12 months time, both normal, you would then go on to three years, the assumption being that within that 4 year period, if any of the smears had been misread, at some point it would be picked up by someone.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And I also understand the assumption is that cervical cancer or the progression rate can be slow so that within that 4 year time frame if someone does have an abnormality it's not likely to progress to carcinoma.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	Now it seems to me that all of these assumptions work when you are dealing with an area, we’ll take Sydney for example which you are familiar with, where you have a large laboratory, a large number of persons reading smears.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	So the likelihood of the same person reading a woman’s smear each time the smear was sent into the laboratory is slight, would it?

A:   	Very slight yes.

Q:   	When you look at the Tairawhiti area it is a fairly isolated rural area, if the population of women or a group within that population of women were resident in the area, remaining in the area, in other words they weren’t going outside the area, regularly having smears, their smears were being sent to the one laboratory where those smears were being read by one person and it was the same person, putting aside for the moment locums, what impact would that have on the basic thesis underlying a screening programme in terms of being able to accommodate the occasional false negative?

A:   	It depends on the quality assurance  processes and the skill of the person who is actually undertaking that because apart from a 2 yearly screening interval there are other of course obvious measures that one –

Q:   	Put those out of your mind for now.  What impact does it have?

A:   	As I said it would depend on the skill of the person reading those slides entirely.  I mean if the person was reading the slides using all the normal checks and balances which would be available to them I think it is my opinion that even somebody practicing by themselves should be able to access or implement –

Q:   	I don’t want should.

A:   	Could, can, is able to, does know about the measures that they could institute to in fact read those.  It's hard, it's extraordinarily difficult but it is not knowledge or techniques that would be unavailable to them to implement the quality assurance  measures that would make sure that those slides were being read as well as a large big multi personed laboratory.

Q:   	Well if we add another factor to the equation because at the moment we’ve got an isolated rural area, women who are resident in the area, their slides going to the same laboratory being read by the same person each time, we also take into account the fact that the laboratory is not part of an accreditation programme for laboratories in New Zealand which is called TELARC, you would know it as NATA.  What impact would that have no the underlying assumption of Cervical Screening Programmes that the programme in the long run will be able to accommodate the odd false negative?

A:   	It would have a serious impact on the programme. 

Q:   	Can you say why.

A:   	To put it another way, it is interesting that we are all talking about cervical screening programmes but it is also premised on the fact that appropriate processes will be taken by that laboratory independent of an accreditation process which I would term professionalism and as you know in Australia we’ve only had just in gynecological cytology requirements since 1997 but there has been an assumption that laboratories performing gynecological cytology, whichever way they chose to set them up, will follow normal process that people would be aware of and there is literature going back from the mid 80’s about quality assurance  processes, the actual method of screening a slide was described, I haven’t got it with me, but there’s a very large textbook written by a man called Leopold Cos published in the 1960’s that describes the method of screening a slide.  That knowledge basis is present in the worldwide literature so when one does all this extra layer of checking and quality assurance  and performance standards there is an underlying assumption that those very, what I would also term basic processes, are being carried out.

Q:   	Yes well if they are not, what impact does it have?

A:   	Well it will have a major impact on the testing process whether it be a pap smear or a blood test.  Whatever pathology test is undertaken there is always a known false negative or there is a range of – but it is the responsibility I believe of the professional taking responsibility for that test to ensure that it is done for their patient’s sake as well as would be accepted by their peers around the world.

Q:   	Well for those working in the health field who have a responsibility to ensure that health services are being delivered promptly, can you tell me how readily apparent would it be to them just by standing back and looking at a situation, if it were known that you had a situation in a rural isolated region where women were having smears taken, being read by a single laboratory, by the same person each time the smears came in, in circumstances where that laboratory did not belong to any accredited laboratory quality assurance programme?  What would that signal to you?

A:   It would certainly be of major concern to me, and we can start out – even we can look at a number of those different aspects of that particular situation, and the first one that springs to my mind is the concept of primary screening.  I've been a cytopathologist, as you know, for a long time and I can screen slides but it is extraordinarily difficult.  I mentioned it yesterday, but it is a great skill to be able to screen slides.  I obviously know a lot of pathologists and I personally know of only one who has actually ever worked as a cytology screener and ERGO went to the trouble to develop that skill.  Now I’m not saying somebody can't do it, but obviously it is going to take – I mean, again I’ll take back to our own laboratory back in Sydney, we take upwards of a year just to train a scientist in that screening process.   So that would be one of my initial concerns was that that particular pathologist or person doing that screening had undertaken those particular, had taken the time to actually do that.  Then, of course, working in isolation is extraordinarily hard.   I don’t think anybody can think that – I mean, even personally, working in isolation can be extraordinarily hard in terms of keeping one’s quality intact, and you would make a huge effort to continually check oneself against an external standard, meaning one might have to have a colleague in another laboratory, in another town;  one may have to think of numerous ways that would actually go beyond normal quality assurance because of that isolation factor.   And I was talking to a pathologist from America in fact who works in sole practice, and she came from Maine, and in their State they actually have to send a % of all their slides away to another laboratory.  I don’t know the exact process, maybe it’s annually, maybe it’s every 3 months, just to have them double checked.   So this concept of a sole practitioner is something that is well recognised, in terms of quality and maintenance of quality.  And then let alone going back to then basic accreditation such as TELARC and following all those processes, they would then of course be an even further level for concern at that time.   Then we move to the concept of the fact that there are going to be false negatives anyway as part of one’s normal processes, and therefore one would be actually looking to them in still yet another layer of quality assurance to try and make sure that one’s false negative rate – remember that much of the laboratory quality processes that we go through are to minimise an already accepted false negative rate.  So there would be that extra step again to minimise that known false negative rate, let alone just doing the primary screening.  So it can be, it would be very, very concerning and it would be in one’s profession, and we are a fairly small community pathologists, one would be very concerned about those processes that were being undertaken in that area.

Q:   So if you as a pathologist knew that that was happening would you feel an obligation to say or do something about it?

A:   Yes.

Q:   And could you say what you would say and what you would do?

A:   Well, it would depend on if I knew the person, obviously, and if they were a colleague who I could speak to personally – I mean, that would probably be my first avenue, to just chat to them and I may find they are an exceptional person and who loves working in isolation and does all those things and sees it as a huge challenge and there's no problem.  I think, though, that at other levels definitely there are avenues whereby – it’s interest, the next step for me would be to approach NATA in Sydney, that’s in fact I have done that about obviously laboratories in Sydney, and one writes a letter.  It’s a confidential process but there is that process that one can actually write a letter to NATA and what they do is they then go and inspect in a more timely basis.   That’s how it actually works.

Q:   But that’s a process built into NATA is it, you can write to them confidentially and say “I've got concerns about a laboratory”?�A:   Yes, absolutely.

Q:   that will only work in circumstances where, as in Australia, the NATA accreditation is compulsory?

A:  That’s right, exactly.

Q:   If the accreditation isn't compulsory its not much good.

A:   Well, you're really going to be in trouble, because, as I said, the College has no process by the way, that I know of, for any review of a quality situation in a laboratory.  Yes.

Q:   Putting aside the NATA step, because in NZ at the time TELARC accreditation was not compulsory so a laboratory could operate in this way without being accredited, therefore TELARC could do nothing to do them if they weren't an accredited laboratory.  What else would you do?

A:   Well I must admit, if it was me, even if I didn't know the pathologist I would probably write to them.  It’s interesting, isn't it, that I would, typical me, get all righteously indignant and write to the person and suggest perhaps we could chat or perhaps we should try and help them some way.  I think my first thing would be to try and persuade them to get a cytologist.  I have a very high opinion of cytologists, so I mean I think that would be – so I probably, especially in a small community like this, I would probably – maybe if I had an association with the College people, there is a local College chapter so to speak, one would probably speak to them and try and do it that way.  It would therefore have to be on a very – what I’m really saying on a personal basis, that one would try and work that through.



MR GRIEVE:   I’m going to come back to that Madam chair, but I don’t want to break the line.

CHAIR:   Deal with it now if you want to.

MR GRIEVE:   I will deal with it now seeing we are on this, it’s a convenient point.  I want you to look, please at – well, let me ask you this:  you've heard evidence of a process that’s been instituted here under the auspices of the College, or at least members of the College, called a Cytology Review Panel?

A:   Yes.

Q:   And that involves, or that’s an arrangement whereby when the reading of smears is questioned a process is put in place whereby the slides in question are gathered with a group of slides and circulated to a number of laboratories – and the example I’m going to put to you, five in all – and the results are collated and an assessment made of whether the original reading was right or wrong.   You are aware of that procedure?

A:   In this case, one of the women involved that we know as Patient One had 4 smears which were subjected to this process, and if you go to a volume that we know as Dr Thompson’s exhibits, now it's a fat volume and the pages numbered, it's about the middle of the volume or a bit past that and we’re looking at page number 163, in fact it starts at page 162.  The handwritten top right hand corner.

A:   	It's a gynecological cytology review panel.

Q:   	That's it.  If you go back to just page 162 you will see the first page there and you can see, if you go over the next few pages, it's headed gynecological cytology review panel – review number 1, do you see that?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And slide a) through to slide h) and at the bottom of each of those four pages reporting on the slides you can see commentary as to quality and diagnosis.



MS PHIPPS INTJERCTS

CHAIR:   	Sorry pause Mr Grieve, yes Ms Phipps?

MS PHIPPS:   	It's just ma’am  that you have given a ruling on this witness in commenting on this type of evidence previously on the 17th and I’m just drawing it to your attention ma’am.

CHAIR:   	I was aware of that.  Unfortunately I can't quite remember what I ruled now I’ll have to look in the transcript.

MS PHIPPS:   	I can give you a page reference ma’am.  On my emailed copy it's B/1374.  I note that those numbers varied from those given by Mr Grieve yesterday.  I don’t have a hard copy the one’s that handed out to the parties but I could certainly find it quickly for you ma’am.

CHAIR:   	Well we should be able to find it if it's not at 1374 it should be close.

MS PHIPPS:   	It's the ruling that occurred I think just before the morning adjournment.

MR GRIEVE:   	1373 Madam Chair.



CHAIR REPLIES AND ADDRESSES MR GRIEVE

CHAIR:   	Now I was aware of that, I’ll just see where these questions go, you will bear that in mind Mr Grieve, you’re not going to back into the area that I ruled wasn’t covered?

MR GRIEVE:   	Well as I understand it Madam Chair that ruling related to the reading of 4 slides by Dr Farnsworth.

CHAIR:   	That's correct.

MR GRIEVE:   	I’m certainly not going back into that area.

CHAIR:   	That's fine.

MR GRIEVE:   	But if my learned friend is saying that it's more wide than that.

CHAIR:   	I think she’s just nervous.



MR GRIEVE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MR GRIEVE:   	Dr Farnsworth you’ll see that those 4 pages as I’ve said give a summary of the findings, or they specify the findings in relation to each smear by each of the 5 reviewing laboratories and at the bottom of the page a summary of the findings.  Shall we say a consensus view so that for example in relation to slide a) under the heading diagnosis there is the comment the referring laboratory reported changes of low grade squamous intraepithelial lesion  CIN I etc.  Four of the five reviewing laboratories reported changes of high grade SIL etc. do you see that?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And you’ll see that the same sort of thing is done in relation to the remaining smears slide b) the referring laboratory reported the smear as normal where as all 5 reported high grade do you see that?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And slide c) it was reported as inflammatory infective change.  3 of the 5 reviewers reported high grade, 1 reported atypical with a suspicion of high grade and so on.  One reported it as normal.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And then slide h) the reporting laboratory reported high grade CIN II or CIN III, all 5 reviewers reported it as squamous cell carcinoma.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Now I want you to just consider this situation whereby this information becomes available to a pathologist who reads this review some time in July or August 1995 and I want you to take into account also the fact that at that time the pathologist in question knew that the original laboratory was not TELARC accredited.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	In the same way as Madam Chair has put to you.  The same pathologist knew that these slides emanated from Gisborne although he didn’t know the details, he was – no I’ll leave that – he also knew that the pathologist in Gisborne the original pathologist who did the reading at an earlier period had been the primary screener but the pathologist who was possessed of this information in 1995 was not then aware of the position whether the Gisborne pathologist was still a primary screener or not.  The pathologist who had this information in 1995 also knew that these smears, the 4 in question, emanated from the one patient and as I’ve said to you when he found out in 1995 as a result of being approached to have these smears reviewed and became aware that the Gisborne laboratory was not accredited he advised the Gisborne pathologist to do two things.  Either get accredited or consider sending his cytology elsewhere.

A:   	Right.

Q:   	So that's the information that this pathologist had at that point in 1995 and the evidence is that having got the results he wrote a letter the pathologist in Gisborne which we have and I’ll show it to you, CAT 16.

A:   	Can I just ask, we’re talking about 1995 are we.

Q:   	We’re talking about 1995.

A:   	This was done in 1995, this review material that I’m looking at is from 1995 is that right?

Q:   	Yes, so that the review panel material –

A:   	The letter is dated 1995.

Q:   	The letter is dated 14 August 1995.  Now Madam Chair I see it's nearly 11 I’m going to ask Dr Farnsworth to read this letter carefully, would it be a convenient time or not, I’m in your hands.



CHAIR REPLIES TO MR GRIEVE & ADDRESSES WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Well I don’t mind my concern is whether she’ll remember the question.  It's a very long question.

MR GRIEVE:   	OK well I’ll press on. 

CHAIR:   	Would you like a break now or would you rather deal with it so your recall of the question is better Dr Farnsworth?

DR FARNSWORTH:	I agree with Madam Chair I’m not used to these very long questions because I don’t even know what the question is yet.

Q:   All I’m doing at the moment is giving you this information, I understand that.

A:   I mean, I have followed the process, I followed this process and I understand the letter, like the letter was sent -

CHAIR:   I think we’d better stick with it until we get to the end of your question, with an answer, then we will break.

A:   I can read fairly quickly.



MR GRIEVE:   Yes, just take your time.

A:   Yes, okay, I've read it.

Q:   Bearing in mind the matters  that I've put to you, and I know it’s been a long question, but I’ve enumerated the information because I want you to appreciate that it is of a narrower focus than the circumstances that Madam Chair put to you a little earlier, you see.

A:   Right.

Q:   Given this information that this pathologist had in 1995, August 1995 when this letter was written – ie the Cytology Review Panel results, unaccredited laboratory, small location, etc., do you think that if this letter was the only response – ie a letter to the Dr concerned – tat that was appropriate?



MS PHIPPS:   There's one further factor that should be put, which is of course that it was known that this matter was the subject of a complaint at the time, so it was being investigated.   That needs to be put into the mix.

CHAIR:   I think that should be put to Mr Grieve, that the Review Panel was completing the review for the purposes of a complaint which as under investigation.

MR GRIEVE:   I understand that that is in fact not the case, there was no complaint until 22 November 1995.

CHAIR:   So this happened before?

MR HODSON:   That’s semantics.   The matter was in the hands of the ACC and it was going to be fully investigated and if anything was found to be wrong there would, by law, be a complaint.

MR HINDLE:    The fact that there was a review demonstrates that something was underway.

MR GRIEVE:   Well, it means that the patient had complained, certainly.  Anyway, in fact I’m happy to add –

CHAIR:   I think what we should do is to be neutral.   We should add, which makes it even more complicated Dr Farnsworth, in NZ as you are probably aware you cannot sue for personal injury and we have an ACC which deals with claims for medical misadventure rather than through the courts.   This patient had made such a claim and it was part of the system then that when a claim was made for medical misadventure and upheld, the ACC Corporation referred the complaint, or the fact that there had been a complaint which had been upheld for medical misadventure, to the Medical Council.  And this letter falls in that timeframe after the medical misadventure claim had been upheld but before the Medical Council had begun a complaint process.

A:   Could  I just clarify:   the ACC is the Accident Compensation claim, okay, it’s not the Association of Community –

CHAIR:   No.

A:   Right, sorry.

CHAIR:   Actually, we don’t know whether the Review committee know this or not?

MR GRIEVE:   No.  Now, my question again:  In those circumstances, was this letter, first of all on its own to Dr Bottrill, an appropriate response in your view?

A:   I mean all I can say is that I don’t really understand the processes that well.  I mean, this letter is merely informing Dr Bottrill of the results of the review.  It does nothing else.   But I don’t know whether that was appropriate or not.  I don’t know whether – I mean, that’s all it does.  I mean, in a way –

MR HODSON:   I think Ma'am that we should let Dr Farnsworth off the hook, she doesn't know the NZ procedures or the situation.

CHAIR:   Yes.

MR GRIEVE:   Madam chair, with respect.

CHAIR:   What I think Dr Farnsworth, you've had a situation put to you by Mr Grieve.  The real issue is, are you able, from your background as a pathologist working in Australia, given what you have already said to me about how in circumstances in Australia you would contact NATA, on the basis of what has been put to you by Mr Grieve, are you in a position to give an opinion as to whether or not you think the writing of this letter was an appropriate response or do you think something more was called for, and if you can't answer don’t attempt to guess, just think hard about it and then if you can offer an opinion do.  Otherwise, don’t. 

A:   The trouble with just the letter is I don’t know what else was done.  You see, if that is a standard form letter from the review process to the laboratory concerned, and that’s the natural progression, well then that may be what was expected of the review process that was undertaken.  I don’t know then whether there were phone calls from – who wrote the letter?   Whoever it was, but I don’t know what other processes were occurring, therefore –



MR GRIEVE:   Just pause if you would and let me ask you this:   If all that was done was write that letter, would that have been sufficient in your view?



CHAIR:   No, Mr Grieve, I have concerns about that because the problem is if there was nothing else going on at the time it would be appropriate to say that, but there is a whole matrix here of a claim before the ACC, the referral of that to the medical disciplinary body that first deals with complaints, the calling in of the review panel.  Whether the review panel was dealing with this in complete isolation or whether it was part of a bigger matrix is unknown.  This witness doesn't know.   That might affect her opinion.   So I suppose what you could do is put it to her hypothetically, if this was all that going to be done what would you say;  if other things were going to be done, if this was part of a bigger process was this appropriate, and we’ll get her answers both ways and what we make of it will be a matter of submission at the end.



MR GRIEVE:   All right.  Well, if there was nothing going on behind the scenes, of which this pathologist with this knowledge in 1995 was aware, do you think this letter on its own was an appropriate response in the circumstances?

A:   I can answer it hypothetically.  I mean, I will answer that hypothetically, meaning if that is all that happened out of this review process, and nothing else happened, then it would seem to me to be inappropriate.   But, I don’t know that, Mr Grieve.

Q:   I understand that.  In these circumstances, what would you have done?

A:    In these circumstances – this letter appears to me to be almost a form letter of a response to the process that was undertaken, meaning the pathologist has a right to know what the review panel have undertaken.   The only thing is there’s no heading, I don’t know in what capacity it was written, I don’t know whether Clint Teague was holding a position, whether there was some – I mean, is this a personal letter, it's a very – I mean –



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND ADDRESSES MR GRIEVE

CHAIR:   	Pause there.  This is a copy.  I’ve take this to be a copy of a letter that could have gone out with a letterhead.

A:   	In what capacity has he written this letter.  Is it as a friend, or is it in a position?  You know I mean I know – to me – I mean I’m just talking about what I – if you ask me that question – I mean I wear about six different hats in my career and I mean and I writing this as a personal letter to him or am I writing this in my capacity as you know whatever?



MR GRIEVE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MR GRIEVE:   	I’ll tell you the capacity as we know it and Madam Chair if I could just interpretative.  This letter obviously ought to be in Dr Bottrill’s possession.  It is referred to I think in his disclosure materials.  I haven’t seen the original and maybe Mr Hodson can help us with that.



MR HODSON REPLIES

MR HODSON:   	All we have in disclosure materials is identical to that.

CHAIR:   	Is that an original?

MR HODSON:   	No it's the same photocopy.  Remember Dr Bottrill has no records.

CHAIR:   	Well that may be Mr Hodson but the problem is because we don’t have an original letter, for all we know this is the file copy and an original letter did go out with a letter.

MR HODSON:    I understand this to be a photocopy as is every other copy of the one that Dr Teague has kept on his file.  In other words, it's not the letterhead as sent out.

CHAIR:   	So we don’t know in what capacity.

DR FARNSWORTH:	In what capacity – I don’t even – I mean I know –



MR GRIEVE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MR GRIEVE:   	Just pause please Dr Farnsworth and I’ll put it to you.  Dr Teague was approached by Dr Bottrill to undertake this review.

A:   	Sorry Dr Teague was approached by Dr Bottrill.

Q:   	Yes.

A:   	I see.

Q:   	Because Dr Teague was known as I understand it to be the person that organised these reviews.

A:   	Can I ask a question.  I thought it was arranged by the ACC.

Q:   	Look it doesn’t matter.  The review panel process as I understand it was set up under the auspicious  of the ACL and the College but Dr Teague arranged it and so that all we know is that he received the letter from Dr Bottrill dated 7 July 1995 asking him to arrange the review.  He arranged it.  You’ve seen the results of the review panel and this is the reporting letter.  Whether he wrote it on his laboratory letter head we do not know.

A:   	OK so it was at the request of Dr Bottrill.  

Q:   	Yes.

A:   	So he’s actually replying to Dr Bottrill’s request.

Q:   	Yes, giving him the results.

A:   	OK I was under the impression that the review was done by another body which was done outside Dr Bottrill – any that's –

Q:   	Well now you have it and my question is in the circumstances what would you have done, if anything, in addition to reporting in this way?



CHAIR INTERJECTS & ADDRESSES WITNESS AND MR GRIEVE

CHAIR:   	I think you have to ask her what would she have done if she were the person with the responsibility to organise the review?

DR FARNSWORTH:   	Well again I can only answer that from a similar situation occurring in Australia because I really am not familiar with the processes in New Zealand.

CHAIR:   	Well can you answer it at all?

A:   	I would have done what I actually said to Madam Chair is that I take this as a form letter just telling the original pathologist of the review results but would I have left it there personally in a similar situation in Australia, the answer is no, and as I said I probably would have done what I would have done in Australia which is actually speak to the pathologist.  I probably would have spoken to the pathologist rather than written anything and I’ll tell you why, because in Australia this would have been – I mean we have a completely different legal situation and one would have been very conscious of the fact that this could be a potential legal case in Australia which we do tend to shy away from I might say and so I probably would have rung the pathologist myself and spoken to them.  It would have depended on the response of the pathologist and I mean if the pathologist was shall we say not – you know if the pathologist was not then concerned to go ahead and – to get the systems in place that we’re talking about and get NATA accredited and all those things, if there was some reluctance on the part of that pathologist, I may then go another step further but one would certainly approach it initially on a – at a peer level and try and approach it that way.

CHAIR:   	Can you just pause there.  My understanding of the evidence is that Dr Teague’s evidence was that he telephoned Dr Bottrill and said words to the effect he should get TELARC accredited.

MR GRIEVE:   	As I understand it that's correct but that was before, my understanding was that that was before the results of the review panel came out.

CHAIR:   	Then we would add that in too.  

MR GRIEVE:   	I did actually say that Madam Chair earlier.

CHAIR:   	Yes I’m sorry.  I was trying to note everything down.



MR GRIEVE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MR GRIEVE:   	Dr Teague said as I understand his evidence when he got this request for the review he learned that Dr Bottrill was not TELARC accredited and he gave him two pieces of advice.  One that he should consider sending his cytology out for review elsewhere and secondly that he should get TELARC accredited.  The next stage is the review panel results arrive and the report, this letter is sent to Dr Bottrill.  Those are the circumstances.  Does any of that additional information effect the answer you have given?

A:   	Additionally one would follow it up.  One would wait to see the response of that particular laboratory. I think it would be very difficult and we’re talking about someone in not my position, but someone who is say particularly interested in quality and cervical screening.  If I knew of that and nothing then happened, I would be very concerned for the women.  Again that's the bottom line is that the women who chose to have a pap smear need to be – I would be very concerned for them and therefore would have to probably do something more but as I say I don’t know what was done but yes I’ve already said that I would not be able to rest personally in this situation I if I knew about something like that in Australia.



MS BUNKLE INTERJECTS

MS BUNKLE:   	Ma’am I’d just like to clarify the status of Dr Teague’s role in writing this letter.  So in evidence 26.2 he says I coordinated the review according to the protocol.

CHAIR:   	Yes.

MS BUNKLE:   	So he was acting as the coordinator of the review panel at the time, that's the status of the letter.

CHAIR:   	Thank you Ms Bunkle.  Does that add anything to your answer?



WITNESS REPLIES TO CHAIR

A:   	I presume therefore that this is a – I mean I know – I have known of this review panel before this inquiry because – I mean it's been discussed in Australia that we should have one so it's not something I’m not familiar with.  As to it's actual legal status and I mean I don’t know whether you are aware but there is a lot of privacy associates with quality assurance  exercises and lots of processes that one has to go through.  But once again I think that if you were obviously interested in – guess again – if we had one in Australia – the interesting thing is if we did have such a thing in Australia you would have in place what we would call the closing of the loop situation so if a situation occurred, what action then would be taken and that would be a predetermined thing so I think – and it wouldn’t then become so personal because I think that's another very important thing that these things have to be taken away from any personal association so if –



MR GRIEVE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MR GRIEVE:   	Why?

A:   	Well because of course we’re all colleagues and it's always a fine balance I’ve got to be honest.  I mean one is endlessly concerned for one’s patients and one’s women in this particular area of medicine but there is a professional collegiate approach which means that one would go through a normal professional association first.  There is always an attempt within organisations, and this is basically good to try and correct situations internally.  It's only when those things are not happening perhaps that then one needs to go further.

Q:   	So are you saying therefore that this review process which the ACL Royal College have set up in New Zealand needs to go a step further to close the loop as you say by having some follow up.

A:   	Quite right and in fact it's interesting that again with lots of experience of quality assurance  processes, one can actually undertake the process of whatever particular thing but you find there is an anomaly one has to close that loop otherwise the whole process is completely a waste of everyone’s time and it's all very well knowing a certain amount of information but unless there is a predetermined plan of action to actually make sure that corrective action is taken and again remember that a lot of quality assurance  is educative, it's not punitive, and so one actually tries at an initial level to build in an educative element to the whole process and so I would be very hopeful and as I say I don’t know from this letter – it's all very well reviewing these slides but then – so what is done.



MS PHIPPS INTERJECT

MS PHIPPS:   	What's being missed ma’am is that is the process whereby evidence is gained for a complaints procedure so that it's only necessary if there is a doubt about the re-reading.

CHAIR:   	My understand of the process was that if there was concern about slides be that a complaint to the medical disciplinary body or not, a pathologist could ask the review panel to review the slides.

MS PHIPPS:   	The point is if the pathologist on re looking at the slides says that I shouldn’t have missed that, then there’s no need for a review process it's where there is a complaint, investigation and there is a doubt about whether the reading was appropriate or not.  So it's part of a complaints process.



MR GRIEVE INTERJECTS

MR GRIEVE:   	Madam Chair this is wrong.

CHAIR:   	We’ll deal with this later.  For the moment we will adjourn now until 11:40 and sort that out by my understanding of this review process was that it was a process that was available for a pathologist if there was a query about the reading of slides be it an official complaint or not they could have this review processed commenced but sort that out during the break.



INQUIRY RETIRES FOR MORNING ADJOURNMENT 11:22



�

THE HEARING RESUMED AT 11.45 AM



CHAIR:   I understand that there is no objection from any of the counsel or parties appearing if the committee only sits with two members;  is that correct?

[No objection to hearing proceeding in the absence of Mrs Barrett]

CHAIR:   We are most grateful to you for that, Mrs Barrett has influenza and is not well, and it is, I think, preferable if the two of us sit.  Whenever you are ready Mr Grieve.



MR GRIEVE:   Dr Farnsworth, just before morning tea you referred to the tension between, in the circumstances that I was outlining to you, the welfare of patients and I think you said collegiality matters.

A:   Hmm.

Q:   You were in court, I think, the day before yesterday and heard Mr Jones deal with issues relating to the role of the College when we move forward in time to the question of considering its approach to the re-read, do you remember that?

A:   Yes, I do.

Q:   And you will recall that the issue that he was concerned about was an article that appeared, written by Dr Tie in the College organ for NZ, the Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia NZ News.  I’ll get you to look at that, it is Tie Exhibit 1.  Have you seen that publication before, that issue of the publication?

A:   Yes, I have

Q:   In what circumstances did you first see it?

A:   It was sent to me by Norman Fitzgerald at the time of publication last year.



CHAIR:   Does he usually send you these publications?

A:   No, not at all.   Norman Fitzgerald of course was the pathologist who initially approached me to undertake the re-read, and Norman and I continued to speak quite frequently throughout the whole time.  He didn't just send me these, he sent me large numbers of clippings from the NZ press, and, apart from Jim, who I would also speak to very regularly, both Norman and – well Jim didn't, we didn't talk about those things, but Norman and I would speak 3 or 4 times a week about the processes that were going on.



MR GRIEVE:   You will remember the questions put to Mr Jones about it by way of offence, it was suggested to him that these were personal views and that there's a disclaimer and matters of that sort, and do you remember his answers on that topic?

A:   Yes, yes, I do.

Q:   You were present in court then, weren't you?

A:   I was.



CHAIR:   This is very flattering Mr Grieve, but you've done it twice now.   We are a Committee of Inquiry, this is a hearing room.



MR GRIEVE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MR GRIEVE:   	You were present at the hearing then.  Now Mr Jones expressed the opinion that in his view the tone of this article  demonstrated misplaced loyalty on the part of at least the author and possibility  the College because in his opinion it demonstrated that whoever was responsible was not putting the welfare of the patients first.  What is your opinion about that?

A:   	I think you are asking me my opinion of Mr Jones’ reply but I will give you my own opinion about this particular publication.



CHAIR INTERJECTS

CHAIR:   	Yes I think that would be better.  If we heard the witnesses opinion of the publication rather than what she thinks of what Mr Jones.

A:   	Because frankly I don’t want to comment on what Mr Jones said but I 

was very distressed by this, that was all.

CHAIR:   	Why were you distressed?

A:   	Because we were at the time – it's actually called winter – but we’d already seen some of the slides you see and so I knew what we were seeing and knew the significance of what we were seeing and I felt distressed that without any knowledge or – that somebody perhaps could without any evidence in fact or – they could have rung me arguably.  I mean there’s no reason for them – I was bound by confidentiality to the press by the agreement with the Health Funding Authority but a colleague could have rung me so I was just distressed that they would dismiss what I saw as a fairly significant process so lightly and that's not a College thing that was just by the author of that particular process.



MR GRIEVE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MR GRIEVE:   	You’re of course a member of the same Royal College yourself aren’t you?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And you’re also on the management committee of the College’s quality assurance  programme?

A:   	No I in fact am not a member.  They recently did put together a disciplinary advisory committee but I am not a member of that, I was not invited to be a member of that.  The people I work for and all my committee associates are with both the Federal and State Government’s of Australia.

Q:   	Right so you have no College offices?

A:   	I am the College appointee on the NSW Cervical Screening Programme and on the NSW Cancer Screening Advisory Group but that is the only, that's – I represent the College on those particular bodies but I hold no office in the College itself.

Q:   	Would you have expected some sort of support, expressions of support from the College for the re-reading  process that you had been asked to undertake?

A:   	I can’t support – I mean support is probably the wrong word.  Basically they obviously knew it was going on but there was – nobody every inquired of me what the results – what we were finding.  I mean – I was – basically the other thing it's important in Australia, no College members would really know very much about this.  It's never been in the press in Australia, it's never been in our College bulletin that comes throughout Australia.  This would have been a very low call thing in terms of I think every pathologist in New Zealand is aware of it but I don’t think there would be very many College members. There would be a few, but not very many would be aware of it in Australia.



CHAIR INTERJECTS & XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Dr Farnsworth I’d like you to clarify for me.  You said that when you saw the article you were distressed and my understanding of your evidence was that was because of what you were seeing at the time with the slides you were reading?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	But as I understanding your evidence, there is no evidence to suggest that the slides that you were seeing which were classic papanicalaou slides had been misread by Dr Bottrill so for all you knew at the time this classic papanicalaou slides could well have been slides that he read and when he saw them, he may have said to himself, these are classic papanicalaou slides isn’t this surprising, in the way that you did, for all you knew.

A:   	For all I knew, although I was also distressed that the re-read  was dismissed in general by this particular article because although it was – it was an enormous undertaking for us to do it and it wasn’t undertake lightly under any circumstances and I suppose the results - independent of the results – and so I was distressed that the actual re-read  - and I can’t remember the actual words – oh yeah the Health Funding Authority response is they’ve gone for overkill in reviewing all the slides.  I suppose from my point of view given that it had been presented to me by the Health Funding Authority that we were doing it for the sake of the women and soforth I was concerned at that level apart from just the results and I can’t remember the timing but the first set of correlations did come out in Sept so that would have been after that.  I would also – I mean I knew this was something unusual.  I’m not gonna – I can’t say that yes Dr Bottrill may have seen all of those appearances absolutely and of course we had no idea at the time but the actual – as I’ve already said and in my evidence that the appearances themselves were unusual.

Q:   	But as I understand your evidence we went through this table in Tracey Mellor’s evidence but there was a consistency in respect of the slides that was read was there not, in some cases?

A:   	Oh consistency, absolutely and I mean – exactly and so many of the appearances could have been read and probably, not probably, I’m sure were read as high grade by the original laboratory.

Q:   	So for all we know from the state of your evidence we can’t exclude the possibility that in the case of the very obvious positive slides or the very obvious normal slides that they were recognised by Dr Bottrill as well.

A:   	Yes but the other thing was that there was this enormous number of abnormal slides generally rather than – apart from those classic papanicalaou appearances we were seeing – I mean remember that in our laboratory we have a high grade detection rate of .8%, we were seeing three time that rate so that was unusual and that was so –

Q:   	But without knowing the smear histories of the women from who those slides were taken you can’t say whether they were women who had been regularly screened and so this was surprising or whether they happened to be slides from women who had just come on to the programme.

A:   	And there’s no comment as to Dr Bottrill –

Q:   	Is that right?

A:   	That's right but also too that's not a comment about Dr Bottrill’s laboratory I mean for whatever reason, and that will probably be established, but this was an unusual appearance just in the terms of the numbers of slides that we were seeing and so I – I mean I had presumed, I must admit, I had presumed that these women had had the opportunity for opportunistic screening –

Q:   	Yes well put that assumption aside.  Putting that assumption aside there was nothing, there was no evidence you had before you to suggest that these women with a large number of abnormal slides had been screened before?

A:   	Quite right.

Q:   	And really without going through an exercise, tell me whether you can or not, do you need to go through an exercise where you actually audit each woman so you look at a woman who has an abnormal slide and then you go back and track what were - I mean, that’s what one does, one actually reviews previous negatives, or previous so-called negatives, from people where lesions have developed.

Q:   But if you don’t do that audit exercise, how can you tell whether or not there have been false negative smears read in the past?

A:   You can't.  

Q:   So for all we know, in respect of a large proportion of the slides you saw, Dr Bottrill might have been thinking much the same about them as you were?

A:   Yes.



MR GRIEVE:   I suggest, however, subject to this, that on the basis that you've said yesterday that that description of the appearances related to the high grade smears, was that right?

A:   The amount of material and all those things?

Q:   Yes.

A:   Yep.

Q:   And we know from Tracy Mellor’s Appendix 1 to her supplementary brief, if you’d look at it – p37, tab 87 – that Dr Bottrill read of the almost 23,000 smears he read 133 as either high grade or cancerous, correct?

A:   Yep.

Q:   And you read on the re-read 173, that is 29 + 544?

A:   It’s 573.

Q:  And what I'm suggesting to you is that given that significant discrepancy to which reference has been made already, although you cannot be scientifically precise about it the likelihood is that a number of the smears which you describe as having these appearances were in fact under-read by Dr Bottrill.

A:   If you're referring to the appearances, we’ll just leave aside the Papanicolaou-type appearances, but if you're referring to the appearances where there is ample material with quite obvious abnormal cells on them, and if we take as an example the slides that I showed yesterday that we do know – and believe it or not they are the only actual slides I know, the actual correlation – I know that numerical correlation but I don’t know any other correlation.   I mean, they're the only ones, and if you ask me about those 5 particular examples I showed yesterday, and as you know 3 of those we called high grade and they were reported as normal by the original laboratory, the only thing I can actually comment on in terms of – apart from the numerical change – but if you ask me about those 3 particular slides that were called, as I said, negative by the original laboratory,  I would say they were –

MR HODSON:   with respect, of those 5 one of them was called high grade and one of them was called ASCUS.

A:   Yes, exactly, but I’m talking about the 3 that weren't.  And again remember that our %s, even if we look at our %s that’s about the %.   We call 5 high grade, one was called high grade by the original laboratory and one was called ASCUS, but that is about the same 5 of abnormalities that was interestingly found throughout the whole high grade.  

CHAIR:   You mean 3 out of  - you haven't said what the % is.

A:   Oh, I’m sorry, well 3 out of 5.

CHAIR:   3 out of 5.

A:   Well, we call 5 high grade, the original laboratory called 1 high grade, so that’s 1 out of 5, so that’s 20%, and if we’re talking about – and then we called, but 3 – 3 of those 5, so that’s 60% of those particular slides were called negative by the original laboratory, but on the appearances that we saw, and as I said I've actually got the slides here –

MR GRIEVE:   No, I don’t want you to digress, we’ve –

A:   they were under-called, yes they were undercalled.

Q:   they were under-called?

A:   Yes.

Q:   So you're using the specific photographed examples and saying that the %s represented there also correlate with the overall figures and so you extrapolate from that, do you, that you would expect the same range of abnormalities seen in the photographs over the other cohort of slides?



MR HINDLE:   I’m sorry to interrupt, but the evidence yesterday, and I’m as sure as I can of this without actually looking it up, was that none of the photographs showed any of these dramatic appearances.

CHAIR:   No, I accept that Mr Hindle.   We’re not talking about the Papanicolaou slides now –

MR GRIEVE:   No.

CHAIR:   - we’re just talking about the slides where the abnormal material was all over the slide rather than like slide C, which is the classic false negative.

MR HINDLE:   I’m sorry.

MR GRIEVE:   Yes.  So is that what you're saying doctor, that the photographed smears, or slides, that we saw yesterday provide a representative sample, representative in the sense that the proportions of abnormalities or false negatives apply also to the false negatives seen across the whole cohort of nearly 23,000 smears?

A:   It is a long bow to draw, that I can actual assume that.   What I, and as you know, as we were re-reading these slides – I've already said all this – the number of abnormalities, and apart from the Papanicolaou classical appearances which were probably relatively infrequent, there were large numbers of slides, of the order of 2.5% of that whole group, where there was ample and obvious abnormal material on the slides.   That sheer %, irrespective of what was called by the original laboratory, irrespective of anything, was most unusual to me and to the other laboratories and the other pathologists that were seeing the same material.   We did not know, as Madam Chair has said, which of those slides were actually also reported as high grade by the original laboratory.  But that in and of itself – I mean, that’s a completely different issue to the sheer number of abnormalities that we were seeing.   All I can really say, and remember too that I took those slides – they weren't particular examples, they were taken – all those things –

Q:   At random?

A:   You know all those things – at random, but they do exemplify my recollection of the kind of appearances that we saw on a daily basis.  As you know I took those appearances, I did not know what had been called by the original laboratory, the point about those 5 cases is that they are the actual only cases out of 23,000 odd smears that I know the one to one correlation which I have put in my evidence.  It's up for people to draw that but as I say it is also quite – and it's sheer circumstance I can promise you that the rates are about the same as we have seen throughout the whole laboratory but the appearances were truly representative of all of the slides, each of the 5 cases not just the one where there was a discrepancy in reading, the appearances of all those slides were the appearances that we saw throughout the whole of the re-read .



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Well my understanding of your evidence yesterday was that those slides which I think are d), e), f) and g), that you would see those perhaps daily.

A:   	That's exactly right.

Q:   	But I didn’t take it that all the slides you were seeing each day were like that, it was just on a daily basis you would see a slide like that.

A:   	Again these were the ones passed up to me as the pathologist and obviously I didn’t do cytology every day but on the days when I was doing cytology and on the days when I was responsible as a pathologist which was on a roster basis for reviewing the – well all cytology and by the way they weren’t ever separated out they just came through in the normal checking, what we call checking pile – the Gisborne slides would always stand out as quite unusual and that was everybody’s experience.

Q:   	But with these 5 slides that we’ve talked about where you have identified a discrepancy between  how your laboratory read them and how Dr Bottrill read them –

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	These were randomly selected.

A:   	Yes they were.

Q:   	Now on what basis can you use these 5 randomly selected slides and extrapolate from that and say that the same percentage of discrepancy could be applied to the remainder of the slides you read.

A:   	I’m talking about the overall numbers.  In the original report as I know is about – the original reported high grades was about 5% whereas we reported 2.5%.  Sorry .5% as opposed to 2.5% which is meaning about a fifth of the overall slides that we called high grade or reported as high grade – the percentage was about a fifth and as I say the actual equation of those – but it was about a fifth and out of 5 slides, out of 5 examples, one fifth of those slides was called – I mean it could have been – I mean we took those slides – the original laboratory could have called those all high grade we had no idea at the time but it was just entirely coincidence and I suppose you could say well I’m drawing an inference there but it is quite interesting to me whether it means anything scientifically or not I suppose I can’t really judge that, but it was interesting to me that the same percentage of the ones that we called high grade were also percentage wise numerically it was the same.

Q:   	The same for the 5 photographs as opposed to the call of the smears.

A:   	Yeah, exactly 23,000 odd slides.

Q:   	And is there any basis that you are aware of for saying well because the percentages happen to be the same or is that just pure coincidence is there any basis –

A:   	No you can’t say that and I suppose the only other thing I’ll say is that as I have also just said, and I suppose I can reiterate it, is the one thing I do know is that the appearances of each of those 5 slides, not just the ones where there was a discrepancy of reading, each of those 5 slides were the appearances that we saw and in fact they were taken almost as in record of the cytological criteria that we were using.  They in fact - as it turns out it's an interesting – kind of at another level but they were really recorded – well I wanted to record them on the basis of the kind of appearances, the cytological criteria that we were using.

Q:   	But without knowing the history of the women from whom those slides were taken and without knowing whether or not they had been screened in the past or not, we can’t actually draw any conclusions about the fact that they were so, using your words, so obviously abnormal.

A:   	I mean the only conclusion I can say is that whether there was a discrepancy, especially where there was a normal to high grade discrepancy, those particular slides in my opinion were obvious abnormalities.  I’m talking about cytologically here not anything else.

Q:   	We know that you have been able to do a tracking process whereby you could look at 5 slides and say how your laboratory read them and how Dr Bottrill’s laboratory read them.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	In respect of other slides, have you done this tracking process of looking at how your laboratory read them and how Dr Bottrill read them?

A:   	No we haven’t.

Q:   	So the only slides that you can base an opinion on in terms of how obvious the abnormality was for your laboratory contrasted with Dr Bottrill reading them as normal is for 5 slides which you presented in evidence.

A:   	That's right.



MR HODSON INTERJECTS

MR HODSON:   	Before my friend resumes could I just clarify one thing.  Earlier in that particular discussion Dr Farnsworth said that they were randomly selected.

A:   	That's right.

MR HODSON:   	Then she said, and I think I have it right, that they were taken as typical of the high grades that she had been seeing, in other words they were not random at all, they were selected as being typical of a range.

CHAIR:   	I can see, I know how this has come about but perhaps just so we can clarify it we can ask Dr Bottrill.

MR HODSON:   	As far as I can tell if I can just finish the point, it is not a question of taking all the slides that were read on that day and picking 5 out at random, it's selecting 5 for a particular reason is that right.



WITNESS REPLIES TO MR HODSON

A:   	No in fact again it's worth clarifying.  They were the high – you see – again back to the principal of – I don’t see all the slides.  If the slides are normal they get seen by the cytologist and get reported so I don’t ever see those.  These were in that group and as I say because we were looking at all of the slides from our laboratory on that day these were 5 high grade lesions   that came through and in fact they were probably the 5 high grade lesions   I can’t remember, but I can remember just picking up a pile, so when I say they were random, they had already been pre-selected by the cytologists so perhaps that's no random but from my photography point of view they were – I mean I didn’t sit around for three weeks looking for really good examples and frankly there not arguable – I mean I wish now I had photographed some other things but I didn’t – is that clear?



CHAIR INTERJECTS

CHAIR:   	It is my understanding just so we can tidy it all up, is that because the cytoscreener screens out the normals on a particular day you received a bunch of abnormal slides to look at, you’ve looked at them and from that bunch you randomly selected 5 slides.

A:   	Yes by the way there would have been inconclusive and low grades as well from the whole laboratory so I did only pick high grades.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Dr Farnsworth I’m going to ask you a pathological question.  You have said in evidence that the smears that you called positive for high grade or cancer were remarkable in terms of the numbers of abnormal cells present.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	Your impression was that essentially all of them were like that.

A:   	Yes and it's my impression and essential are good words yes.  I mean I can’t give you a scientific number.

Q:   	That's fine.  Of the ones that you saw that were high grade or cancer, almost all of them had many abnormal cells with obvious futures.

A:   	Yes that's right.

Q:   	And you saw approximately 20% of the slides.

A:   	That's right, of the abnormal slides.

Q:   	Sent to you by the cytoscreeners for checking.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	Where you struck at all amongst these positive cases by smears that had features that you describe in photomicrograph C of your brief?

A:  Which is the small –

Q:   Yes, the single cell, this one.

A:   No, I wasn’t struck by that at all.  No, no, no, I was not.

Q:   Now this particular cell type is found in what circumstance usually?

A:   A lot has been written in the literature over the last few years about false negative appearances.   There's a number of papers that have already been referenced, but the one that I suppose I’m most familiar with is the Mitchell and Medley paper, and in that, because of the increasing consciousness I guess in our profession of false negatives and also obviously trying to reduce them, Gabrielle and Heather went back and actually looked at a group of slides that had been false negatives through their laboratory and actually quantified and described the particular appearances that were seen.  The particular example I used was a false negative from our laboratory;  it was a biopsy proven CIN 3, and on review of that slide this was the kind of appearance that single cells that are usually scanty – often less than 200 they’ve actually quantified, and if you're talking about a Pap smear with upwards of 300,000 cells you can imagine 200 cells may be in fact difficult to find.  

Q:   Dr Farnsworth can I stop you here.  So this cell that is illustrated in this particular photomicrograph is representative of a positive case that may be missed by a laboratory with quality control?

A:   That’s exactly right.

Q:   Because the Victoria cytology services have quality control?

A:   They have excellent quality control, yes.

Q:   And your laboratory has quality control?

A:   Yes, we do.

Q:   Are you at all familiar with the type of cell changes seen in smears from laboratories that have false negatives and no quality control?

A:   No, I'm not.

Q:   Is there anything in the literature on this?

A:   Not that I’m aware of.  I mean, give me a second.  

Q:   Okay.

A:   No, I don’t know.

Q:   what does it mean to you, then, that all of the positive cases that you saw did not have characteristics of this particular type of smear that, in laboratories with quality control, are representative of a false negative?

A:   What I was thinking was that this may be because there is no quality control, and maybe these appearances – needless to say I've spent a lot of time wondering why these appearances came through our laboratory – I mean, why were these appearances there, and I obviously have no – I don’t know why, but certainly I formed the impression, during the 6 months that we were looking at these slides, was that they would be consistent with smears being read in a laboratory with minimal quality control and also, too, that I formed the impression – and this is purely an opinion because of course we will never know this – that the actual process that I’m so familiar with, and that has been described of screening methodically smears rather than just – you know, there was something, I felt that perhaps an explanation was that there was some – well, it was a lack of quality control but also a lack of methodical process because reading Pap smears is an incredibly laborious and intense job that I think we've actually heard evidence already that it’s very hard.  I think Dr Teague was talking about the fact that it takes an enormous amount of concentration and it’s one thing that we’re very conscious of, I mean we spend an enormous amount of time with our cytologists giving them the appropriate chairs – I mean, there's a lot of things one does because of the laborious nature of the process, and so one of the things that I was concerned about wasn’t just a lack of even quality control but I would have been interested in the process itself.

Q:   So I’d like to summarise and perhaps you can comment on my summary.  Amongst the cases that you called positive, there were no cases, or very few cases, with characteristics of the cell type illustrated in C?

A:   That’s exactly right, yes.

Okay.



CHAIR:   Dr Farnsworth, I just want to be clear about this:  You said that your laboratory had called the positives at 2.5% and Dr Bottrill at .5%, is that correct?

A:   That’s right.

Q:   Now, in order to be sure that the abnormals that you were seeing as obvious abnormals covered all the slide had not been seen in the same way by Dr Bottrill.

A:   Hmm.

Q:   You’d need to know whether or not those type of abnormals exceeded .5% of the slides wouldn't you?

A:   I think my impression of the slides was that, remember that there was another group that we call ASCUS high grade that were perhaps more difficult and arguably questionable appearances, my recollection is that 2.5% that we actually called high grade did fit into the readily diagnosable group of slides.  Remember there was CIN 2s and CIN 3s, but they were, as I think the best is, “readily predictable” – they were appearances that we would be comfortable calling that under any circumstances.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   These abnormal features were not difficult to make a call upon?

A:   that’s exactly right, that’s exactly what I’m trying to say – to us it wasn’t, no.

Q:   They were as clean as your face?

A:   Absolutely, and in fact that was why, again, it was remarkable.   It was most remarkable.  Not any correlation, but the fact that we were seeing this large number of obvious cytologies.  It was, as I said, I mean now I've said it hundreds of times.

Q:   Dr Farnsworth, in terms of the cell illustrated in photomicrograph C – I’m just trying to think how to put this question.  Some of these may be examples of false positive reporting, is that correct?

A:   In C?

Q:   Yes.

A:   False positives?

Q:   Yes.

A:   You mean if one saw those type of appearances in routine screening and you called them?

Q:    Right.

A:    Yes, they may be, and in fact it’s interesting that what one would probably do – we would do with that type of appearance is we may in fact call it – in fact it’s a reasonable example of something we might call “inconclusive high grade to be excluded”, and as you know, our positive predictive value in conclusive high grades in our laboratory is about 45% so it’s much lower.  So when there are a scanty number of cells – and it’s because we are familiar with false negatives, and obviously we have processes whereby we want to reduce those anyway, and so where there's a small number of cells and where the appearances are perhaps a little bit more difficult, they are the appearances that we may call inconclusive high grade.  Now we wouldn't count that as a false negative, but it could easily be a false positive because the woman would have had a colposcopy.  

Q:   So the very use of the terminology “inconclusive” introduces some doubt?

A:   that’s exactly right, yes.

Q:   So if your laboratory was over-reporting the high grade rate in this particular cohort, you would have several examples of C in what you called high grade or cancer?

A:   	If we overcalled there probably would be.  As I say I can’t remember any.

Q:   	So amongst the cases that you called cancer or high grade I appreciate you have another category called ASCUS H but amongst the cases you called cancer or high grade, to the best of your recollection there weren’t any examples of C?

A:   	That's exactly right.  There may have been some, I mean that's the problem –

Q:   	There were very few.

A:   	Exactly there were very few.

Q:   	Or not that stood out in your mind.

A:   	Exactly yes none that stood out in my mind.  I mean obviously if they were reviewed – I mean can I say there weren’t any there no.  Well obviously didn’t even see them all so –

Q:   	And if a laboratory was to inflate it's cancer or high grade rate the inclusion of this type of cytological appearances that is represented by C would inflate the rate, that is give you a very high rate of cancer or high grade.

A:   	Yes although the only thing is that they are very rare appearances anyway.  I mean they are not something that one sees every day so it's not a very common appearance I guess so therefore to inflate you overall laboratory numbers by including those may be very hard just because they’re infrequent in the population of screening. 

Q:   	They’re infrequent.  And of course because there was a certain bias in the re-read  you would be looking for this type of cell is that correct.

A:   	Yes and in fact in my brief of evidence it was interesting because when we first started out – I mean I am very familiar with those appearances and if anything we were anticipating seeing obviously around – I don’t know why I just presumed we’d see what we normally see in our laboratory, about .8% you know those kind of appearances, obviously many of which still look like the slides from New Zealand.  There are many slides we see everyday that have large numbers of abnormal cells on them.  Don’t get the impression that that's something unique to New Zealand. So I thought we’d see those but then what I suppose we were conscious of and I will say this in the sense of – it's become more apparent that our laboratory is under scrutiny as well, I was conscious of the fact that from my own I suppose professional standards point of view I didn’t want to miss too many false negatives and we in fact consultant our legal teams because I mean in Australia it's a real issue.  I was worried that if we re-read  all these slides, we may – I’m sure we do in fact have a false negative rate but I was very conscious of those appearances and I suppose in anticipation – I mean we knew there was an issue here, we knew that there were women that were involved, if anything I had anticipated perhaps seeing those kind of appearances.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	I just want to be clear about these matters though.  It seems to me that for the purpose of the re-read, I accept you have this impression that you saw a lot of slides where the abnormal cellular material was very obvious.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	But at the time you never recorded how many of those slides were like that.

A:   	No we didn’t.

Q:   	So all we have is your impression.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	And also you didn’t see all the slides.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	And because we don’t know the screening histories of the women who provided the slides, we don’t know whether a slide which had very obvious abnormal material was the first smear that had been taken from a woman or the third or fourth do we?

A:   	No we don’t.

Q:   	Given that there are a number of matters that we don’t know here, what conclusions can we reliable draw from the impressions you described to us about the appearance of the abnormal slides?

A:   	I guess it will be – I mean the conclusion or the – I suppose the only thing you can actually come to is the fact that there were large numbers of them as per the actual numbers of slides.

Q:   	But you didn’t record how many.

A:   	But we called a large number high grade.

Q:   	Right you called a large number high grade.

A:   	Yes and in essence it's gonna be just down to my impression apart from the pictures that I showed yesterday.



MR GRIEVE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MR GRIEVE:   	I don’t know how many hours it is now but we got diverted from where I started this morning at about 10:30 on this correlation between  the high rate of high grades and the high incidence of cervical cancer and I want to come back to that.  One of the issues we were dealing with when we got sidetracked was this issue of the extent to which the population has been screened and it was suggested that I think, by Madam Chair, that we had no information as to the time at which the slides you examined, sorry the time in which the smears were taken.  Now just on that, you reviewed all these smears sequentially didn’t you starting from 1991 through?

A:   	Yes that's correct.

Q:   	And as I understand it you’ve said I your evidence that the nature of the abnormalities you saw, you saw consistently through the whole cohort of smears, that is the whole 23,000 odd is that right?

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	Now again while you did not take specific records, do I take it that your conclusion is that you were seeing abnormalities in consistent percentages throughout the cohort from 1991 through to March 1996.

A:   	Yes and in fact that's in evidence.

Q:   	Right. 

A:   	And in fact it's again one of those interesting things.  Actually we didn’t do that because we don’t have that capacity in our laboratory but the numbers are almost identical if you actually look at the number of slides year to year, the rates of abnormalities.

Q:   	Now I’ve been dealing with the various reasons that you had referred to yesterday as reasons why you might expect this correlation, high grade SIL to high incidence of cancer of the cervix and subject to the debate that we’ve had about the extent to which the population is screened, putting that to one side, I suggest to you that there is a logical reason for the correlation between  the two and that is simply that these slides were not read correctly by Dr Bottrill.  Do you agree with that?

A:   	I’m sorry.

Q:   	I’ll put it to you again this way.  You expressed surprise at the very high rate of high grade smears in a population which you regarded, give or take, as screened.

A:   	Yes whether I was correct or not that's obviously something else but yes I was surprised.

Q:   	An explanation for that, namely a high rate of high grade smears in an area with high rate of incidence of cancer, an explanation for that given the rate of screening of the women is that the smears were not being properly read.

A:   	I do need to qualify that because of course if you – again just take a hypothetical population who’ve never had a pap smear before who have met the etiological factors for cervical cancer, and if you went into that population and screened them for the first time, arguably if you took a population again in a hypothetical country with an incidence of 30/100,000 cervical cancers and you screened that population of women who had never had a Pap smear before, I would imagine, and again that’s from a biological standpoint let alone any epidemiological or any other point of view, that you would find a high incidence of high grade abnormalities because they are the pre-cursor lesions, and if you're going to have a high incidence of cervical cancer they don’t develop de novo they develop through this progression period which, biologically, has been shown for many years.   Therefore, one would anticipate that.  And that’s, by the way, the prevalence rather than the incidence, and a lot of the numbers we talk about in cervical screening it’s per year.  So if you've got a large population that has never been screened before, you are going to have a very high rate of abnormality detection in the first screening cycle.   So that –

Q:   Doctor, I understand all that, but what I’m putting to you is this, that you had that sort of correlation here, correct?

A:   Yes, you had a high incidence of –

Q:   Okay, you had a high incidence of –

A:   On cytology.

Q:   You had a high incidence of high grade and you had a high incidence of Cox?

A:   Yep.

Q:   Right.  So you had that but, as we've been discussing, it was in a screened population to a greater or lesser degree.



CHAIR:   I think you should put that hypothetically.  If you want to have the witness answer this question it has to be put hypothetically:   “what does it suggest if the population has been screened”, because this is the whole point I’ve been traversing with this witness.  We don’t know the smear histories of the slides that were being read.   We can't assume that it was well screened or not without looking.

MR GRIEVE:   Madam Chair, with respect, there are figures about the extent of the screening over time, and indeed/annum, as I understand it.

CHAIR:   Exactly.

MR GRIEVE:   I'm trying to put it on the basis that screening to a greater or lesser degree was how I put it.

MR HODSON:   With respect ma'am, it’s extraordinarily simplistic to leave out the time factor.

CHAIR:   Yes, because you see the problem is that between 91 and 96 the rates on the programme weren't high.

MR GRIEVE:   But we’re not just dealing with rates on the programme Madam Chair.

CHAIR:   Yes, but do you have explicit rates which show what % of the population in Tairawhiti were being opportunistically screened between 91 and 96?

MR KIRTON:   I wonder if I could contribute at this point.  We do have some “knowns” with regard to what was recorded on the Register and what could potentially have been opportunistically screened or not recorded on the Register, and that would be to look at the total/annum screening undertaken by Dr Bottrill and comparing that with the total recorded on the Register for that period.   And if we look at the 23,000 smears taken over that period, and we have a known from memory in the vicinity of 4,500 to 5,000 smears undertaken by Dr Bottrill/annum, we can interpolate that and come up with a figure which approximates that.

CHAIR:   yes.   The difficulty we would have there, though, is that we wouldn't know how many women were involved in the sense that it might be a woman who’s had 3 smears, whereas it might be someone who’s had 1 smear.   There is that other that would skew that.  I think Mr Murray has something.

MR MURRAY:   Ms Mellor will throttle me if I don’t get to my feet and say that from her database she can give the number of women who had a smear in each of the years 91, 92, 93, 94.   Whether they were on the programme or not.

CHAIR:   If you could put that, Mr Grieve, that would be fine, because I don’t want any discussion about well-screened, not well-screened, because those words ultimately become a bit meaningless unless you've got something to measure against.  If we first of all could put to Dr Farnsworth what % of the population each year was screened, that might give her some better information to work on in terms of answering your question.

MR KIRTON:   Ma'am, could I also add one further point.   If we were to go to the table 4.1 on p45 of that Mellor supplementary exhibit, and if we were to look at the very first row and column figure, 10, and see that 5,038 women were re-read and who had only 1 slide re-read, we can in fact interpolate from that what the approximate new screening rate would be.

CHAIR:   Yes, thank you Mr Kirton.   Yes, Dr Farnsworth you are going to get another series of figures put to you which I would like you to absorb to make a decision on;  it will help you form a view on the screening of the population.



MR GRIEVE:   Now I suggest that you take a piece of paper and write these down so that you have them in front of you.

A:   Thanks.

CHAIR:   If Ms Mellor’s figures are here can we not deal with them?

MR GRIEVE:   They have not been reproduced in type-written form yet Madam chair.

MR MURRAY:   We have just got them off the special database that was done for the Gisborne investigation.   We've just done that while this debate’s been going on.   We've called Wellington, got them off the database, written them on a note and passed them to Mr Grieve.   This database can do a lot of things, and we've put some tables here, and a few issues are emerging so we got more information off the database.

CHAIR:   Okay.   Can we sure it’s accurate?  Has it been peer reviewed!!

MR MURRAY:   I have every confidence in Tracy Mellor.



MR GRIEVE:   Dr Farnsworth, take a pen in your left or right hand, and across the top heading columns please:  Year, Smears and Women.  The first year 1991.  In the middle column under “Smears” 4,773;  and under the “Women” column for that same year 4,271.  1992 – 4,735 “Smears”;  4,296 “Women”.  1993 – 4,543 “Smears”;  4,088 “Women”.  1994 – 4,426 “Smears” and 4,094 “Women”.  And 1995 – 4,421 “Smears”;  and 4,124 “Women”.  And 1996, remembering it’s a part-year only, 683 “Smears” and 672 “Women”.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   Are these all the same women every year?

A:   that’s another point.

Q:   Because to enroll on the programme you have one negative smear, or one smear the first year and then the following year you have another smear and then you go on a 3 yearly cycle if your smear is adequate and negative.   So the important here is are these the same women or different women?  How many are new enrolments?

CHAIR:   Who can say that?

MR GRIEVE:   Well, I can't answer it Madam Chair.

CHAIR:   Mr Murray, can you answer that at the moment from the database?

MS MELLOR:   Would you like me to help?

CHAIR:   Yes.

MS MELLOR:   We can’t directly answer that but I think if you go to the table 4.1 which talks about how many smears per woman you can see, the vast majority of the 12,000 women have had one or two slides re-read  so I think that gives you an indication.  That's probably as close as we can get to at this stage.

Q:   	So the vast majority would have had one or two?

A:   	Yes.



MR HODSON INTERJECTS

MR HODSON:   	Well there’s well over 20,000 women there.



MS MELLOR REPLIES

MS MELLOR:	It works out to be 12,000 women.  You can’t just add them up because you would have women having smears more than once.  Just under 50% of them have had one and then your other sort of 50-60% have had two or more and so we can’t get you exactly what you are looking for but I think the two of them get you an indication.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	I think the only way to do this is to identify the woman and then go back and look at how many smears per annum.



CHAIR INTERJECTS

CHAIR:   	Yes that's the safest way.



MS MELLOR REPLIES

MS MELLOR:   	If you wanted to know individually yes and that would take me a lot longer.



CHAIR INTERJECTS & XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Well if we just went from this table though, given that as you say, about 50% of the women have had one slide and the remainder have had a bulk of them 2, is that enough to give any indication to many any judgment on whether or no you can say this is a screened population.  Don’t guess or jump at it.

A:	Because the question is what is the 20-69 breakdown in the Tairawhiti region?  I mean is that – what is that number.  I know we’ve got 23,000.  If that's – you see again we’re talking about the target population which we’ve already been through but that’s 12,000.

Q:   	Well I understand that at Teague page 231 this is a print-out and this gives you the estimated female population in each area health board for the year 1991.

A:   	Yes we’ve got that, but that's the total female population.  To actually work out –

Q:   	It gives you an age breakdown.

A:   	Oh does it.

Q:   	Yes, the 20-69 is I think 13,333.



MR HINDLE INTERJECTS

MR HINDLE:   	Sorry ma’am does it show whether it's adjusted for hysterectomy.

CHAIR:   	No it doesn’t.



WITNESS REPLIES

A:   	Well that's even less because of course if you’ve had a hysterectomy it doesn’t up the number it lowers it.







CHAIR ADDRESSES MR GRIEVE

CHAIR:   	I think we better first of all find out if on the data that Dr Farnsworth has before her she can make any well formed opinion on whether or not you could say this is a screened population as opposed to an unscreened population or where within a continuum it falls and what impact that has ultimately on the slides you see.



MR GRIEVE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MR GRIEVE:   	Now you’ve got those numbers that I gave you Dr Bottrill haven’t you?

A:   	Yes I have.

Q:   	And we’ve been looking at in terms of the total female populations we’ve been looking at TM92 is that the one?

A:   	Yes.



MR MURRAY  INTERJECTS

MR MURRAY:   	We are approaching the lunch break and I wonder if my witness could just take her time to think about this and perhaps come back after the lunch break.  It importance is being attached to it.

CHAIR:   	Perhaps if we came back at 2 o’clock.



MR HINDLE INTERJECTS

MR HINDLE:   	Ma’am just for the purposes of planning if I could indicate that I’m making inquiries as to whether it will be possible  to have Dr Waine stay tomorrow morning but he is, even if I can do that, he’s going to have to go at 1 o’clock so I guess I’m just making a plea to see whether, provided I can arrange that, whether we could finish with Dr Farnsworth today if at all possible .

CHAIR:   	Well the problem – it would be very nice to finish with Dr Farnsworth today but equally if there is information that must be put to her that isn’t put to her, that will have the effect ultimately of precluding the committee from forming conclusions in order to answer the terms of reference so.

MR HINDLE:   	I was really just flagging within reason the possibility  of sitting on to do that and that depends on where we’re at.

CHAIR:   	Yes well certainly we’ll try to do that it's just that there are issues, she’s an important witness, there are issues that have to be canvassed with her, I know there are certainly issues the committee, particularly Dr Duggan wants to canvass with her and others will want to as well, and I appreciate Dr Wain’s difficulty but the problem is that if we cut an important witness short, the ultimate consequence of that may be that we are not able to answer a particular term of reference.

MR HINDLE:   	I wasn’t suggesting in any way that the evidence should be cut short, I was just flagging the practical difficulties and the possible  of going beyond 5 if that's going to solve the problem which it might not.



MR MURRAY REPLIES

MR MURRAY:   	And just before we adjourn I’m proposing to ring Wellington over the lunch break to tell Dr Lambie not to come up because clearly we’ve got Ms Mellor and Mr DuRose after Dr Wain and ….

CHAIR:   	Yes, there is Saturday remember.

MR MURRAY:   	I know but even allowing for that, I don’t think Dr Wain should come tomorrow morning, whether he should come for Saturday morning seems very optimistic but perhaps I can just judge that a bit later but at the moment.

CHAIR:   	It may be that given that there is so much exploration with Dr Farnsworth over the data that Ms Mellor produces it, we may not need to go through it so much in such detail with her.

MR MURRAY:   	Well I don’t want to run into trouble through running out of witnesses but I don’t look as if I’m at risk of doing that, but I certainly do not want to fly Dr Lambie up, I know he’s a key person in a major division of the restructuring and I don’t think we’ll get to him on Fri.

CHAIR:   	Maybe we could look at it on Fri at midday and discuss it then because I’m hopeful, I understand there are discussions going on at the moment and I don’t know where they are going to get to about other evidence planned for Saturday being taken as read without needing to take up time and if that were the case then we could fit him in because otherwise we’re going to have a log jam next week and as we’ve set Saturday aside, I want it to be used in a meaningful fashion because I don’t see, I haven’t actually read the evidence from the Cancer Society yet but I don’t imagine it is that controversial in terms of people wanting to challenge what is said in it.  There may be people who want to flesh more out, but that may be a luxury no-one has at this stage given the pressures we are under.  So I’m sorry to put that pressure on you Mr Murray, it is one of the disadvantages of sitting in Gisborne but I do want to make sure that time is well used.

MR MURRAY:   	I’ll put him off for tomorrow morning and review during Friday.

CHAIR:   	I appreciate that.  We’ll adjourn now until 2.



INQUIRY RETIRES UNTIL 2:00 PM

�

INQUIRY RESUMES FOLLOWING LUNCHEON 

ADJOURNMENT AT 2:05 P.M.



MR MURRAY ADDRESSES CHAIR

MR MURRAY:   	Apologies for being late ma’am but we did have to crunch some numbers.



CHAIR REPLIES AND ADDRESSES INQUIRY

CHAIR:   	That's fine.  I’d like first of all just to run past everyone with an idea and that is given that Dr Farnsworth’s time is limited and she has to go today, the committee is concerned because there are questions that Dr Duggan wants to ask which have to do with her analysis of the data which everyone might find of assistance and it had seemed, and I’m sorry to interrupt your questioning Mr Grieve and certainly it's subject to what you say and anyone else says, but if we weren’t pressed for time, the usual pattern would be for all counsel to question, then the committee, any questions the committee generated could then be raised by counsel.  What I suggest that if Dr Duggan could interrupt now and ask her series of questions on the data and then that may in fact be of assistance to counsel and parties.  Now what is the general view on that.



MR GRIEVE REPLIES

MR GRIEVE:   	Madam Chair	 any relief is welcome.

CHAIR:   	Is everyone else happy with that?



MR HODSON REPLIES

MR HODSON:   	Ma’am I’ve got 5 or 6 pages of notes which are going to take a while and there’s nothing in them about data.

CHAIR:   	Very well, Dr Duggan will ask her questions, then we’ll proceed with Mr Grieve and then follow the usual pattern.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN XXN WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Dr Farnsworth I’d like to go over the exhibit that you produced yesterday which is 004.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Now there are three performance indicators on this particular sheet.

A:   	Yes that’s right.

Q:   	What I would like to do is go very slowly over these.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And perhaps if I put the questions to you you can confirm or negate.

A:   	OK.

Q:   	The first one is the percentage of women with high grade cytology including cancer but excluding ASCUS H with a subsequent cancer or high grade histology over all time periods.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	So this is a confirmation of what you are calling high grade or cancer?

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	If we can go to page 49 of Tracey Mellor’s supplementary evidence, exhibit 87.

A:   	Table 5.3.

Q:   	Right 5.3.a.  This page has three tables, the first table relates to the period 91-96.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	The second table relates to 96-99 and the third table relates to after May 99 and all of these tables are comparing the cytology read by Dr Bottrill’s laboratory to the colposcopic biopsy findings correct?  The histology was obtained at the time of colposcopy so these are colposcopic.

A:   	Yes but it's by the highest original smear result so that includes both the re-read  and Dr Bottrill’s.

Q:   	This is Dr Bottrill’s reread.

A:   	Is it OK that I’m not familiar with this.  I mean I can go through it but I –

Q:   	Maybe if I go through it.

A:   	Oh no I’m happy to go through it with you but I’ll just need a minute or two, I can do all this, but I’m not that fast.

Q:   	It's actually, I’m going to go through on these tables the calculations that you produced to us.

A:   	That's fine, OK.

Q:   	I have learned to appreciate the difficulties lawyers have with tables!   So the question here is what percentage of women with high grade cytology, that is high grade or cancer diagnosed by Dr Bottrill subsequently had the biopsy that confirmed those reports.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	So in the period 91-96 which is table 5.3.a, the second row in the first column, we have a diagnosis of cancer by Dr Bottrill.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	If we go across that row you see the number 2?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	What that indicates is that Dr Bottrill called 2 cancers and those 2 cancers were confirmed by the histology.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	If you go across the row Dr Bottrill called another case CIN I/HBV and that – sorry he called the cancer and the biopsy showed CIN I/HBV.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	And we have four cases called cancer by Dr Bottrill and we have no result.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	And the reason we have no result is because this data is not yet available?

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	If we go down to the row below that row, which is the third row, and we add the numbers 4+28+6+2+2+15 it totals 57.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	So Dr Bottrill had 57 results of high grade.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Out of those 57 results of high grade, 4 cancers, 4+28 were confirmed as either a cancer or a high grade.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	So if we add those two rows together we get the total number of smears called either cancer or high grade by Dr Bottrill and we can determine how many were called cancer or high grade by the biopsy correct?

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	The number of smears confirmed as a biopsy is 2+4+28 which is 34.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And his total number of cancers and high grades were 64.  That's 7+57.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	So in the period 91-96 Dr Bottrill had 64 pap smear calls of cancer or high grade and 34 of them were confirmed by the biopsies in that period.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	And that percentage is 53%.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Now if we move down to table 5.3.b and we do the same calculation, Dr Bottrill reading the second row across, had a total of 6 high grade pap smears.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	And three out of those on biopsy were confirmed as high grade.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	So that's 3 over 6 for that period.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	On table 5.3.c Dr Bottrill had two cases of high grade on the pap smear and none of them were confirmed.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	Now if we total the three time periods that is 91-96, 96-99 and after May of 99 there were 72 biopsy diagnosis of cancer high grade.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Sorry there were 72 smears of cancer and high grade.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	And 37 of these were confirmed.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	And that gives a rate of 51.3%.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	Can we go over the page to page 50 which is the same 3 tables but this is for the Sydney re-read correct?

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	And we do the same exercise, the total number of smears called either cancer or high grade by the Sydney laboratory is 111, that's 15+96.  15 cancers, 96 high grades, that's 111.  55 of those were confirmed as high grade by the biopsy, that's 4 cancers and 3 high grades.

A:   	Yes.  That's right.

Q:   	And on the row below it's 5 cancers and 43 high grades.

A:   	That's it.

Q:   	So that's 55 over 111.

A:   	That's it.

Q:   	If you go to table 5.4.b and we do the same exercise, the total number of cancer or high grade results for Sydney by the smear is 50.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And the biopsy confirmed smears are on the second row with the high grades 6+31 which is 37.  So that's 37 out of 50.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And for table 5.4.c the total number of cancers or high grades called on smear by Sydney is 1+98 which is 99.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And the one case that you called cancer actually wasn’t confirmed.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	But 5 high grades were a cancer on biopsy and 34 high grades were a high grade on biopsy and one of them was an AIS is adenocarcinoma-in-situ.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	So would you include that as a true positive?

A:   	Yes I would.

Q:   	OK we’ll include that as a true positive and that total is 40, so that's 40 over 99 for that period.  Now if you total 55+37+40 that's 132 confirmations of high grade by the biopsy for Sydney and there were 260 smears called high grade by Sydney correct?

A:   	The denominator here is 292.

Q:   	Yes I wanted to explore that with you.  Why do you have 292 and having gone through the exercise it's 260?

A:   	I don’t know.

Q:   	Does Ms Mellor know?

A:   	Because it is in fact 260 if you add them up.  It's an error.

Q:   	Will you accept 260.  

A:   	In fact that's right, I’ve just added that's fine, 260 is the correct number unless there’s something that I’m missing, because I was given these by Tracey so I haven’t checked this myself.

Q:   	So can we correct your exhibit to 260.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And the percentage of that then, you are now in control of the calculator, is 50.7%, so we’ll correct 45% to 50.7%.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   I’m going to put this statement to you and perhaps you can comment on it.  What these calculations indicate to me is that the confirmation by the biopsy of a smear called cancer or high grade for both laboratories over the three time periods are essentially the same?

A:   That’s right.

Q:   However, the number of smears confirmed by Sydney as high grade is 3.5 times more than the number of smears confirmed as high grade by Dr Bottrill’s laboratory?

A:   That’s right.

Q:   And that is arrived by dividing 132 by 37?

A:   That’s right.

Q:   What does that result mean to you?

A:   It actual means to me that the Sydney re-read confirm rate is – well, both confirmation rates are essentially the same, but it would confirm to me that the extra or the % of extra high grades that we found were in fact true high grades.

Q:   At the same rate as Dr Bottrill?

A:   At the same rate as Dr Bottrill’s.

Q:   Why is there not 100% accuracy for both laboratories?

A:   cytology is a prediction only.  Numerous studies all over the world have shown and our performance standards require such a biopsy confirmation rate as an acceptable Australian standard of 65%.   But that is within a time period of 6 months.

Q:   So that wouldn't apply to this exercise here?

A:   Exactly, and we are talking about I think there's also extremely good scientific evidence that there is a regression rate – not with cancer, I don’t believe that, but certainly with CIN 3 there is a regression rate.  And given that we’re looking for both sets of results over a time period of almost 10 years, 9 years, it would be perfectly understandable to me and biologically explainable that there would be a significant regression rate within that time of the appearances that we saw, and it would apply for Dr Bottrill’s numbers as well of course, but the thing is that also too it’s even we quote a regression rate and as I said the numbers that I actual took are from the Oster article.  But the regression rate for CIN 2s are even higher, and there would be – my actual numbers – there was about 1/3 of those high grade smear were in fact CIN 2s, so that the regression rate for those would be even higher, but I still would say a regression rate of about 40%.  So again if we did a set of numbers, and we can do it for Dr Bottrill’s, but I’ll just do it for Sydney, if we took 40% of 260, which are the women that we call high grade, and I have a calculator, I suppose I could actually do that.   But if we took 40% of that and then actually looked at the confirmation rate that would fit entirely well with those, which in a way is good evidence to me that the cytology that we saw was acceptable cytological predictions.

Q:   Dr Farnsworth, you may recall that yesterday one of the very first points I inquired of you was in relation to the histology.

A:   Yes.

Q:   Was the reading of the histology for the period for both laboratories the same?

A:   It would be very much the same.

Q:   It’s the same.   And any regression of disease would be the same for both laboratories?

A:   Exactly.

Q:   And thereafter is it correct to say that false positive reporting – ie the 50% that weren't recognised or confirmed by the biopsy, some of that may be due to false positive reporting or some may be due to disease that is yet to be detected?

A:   Yes, that’s also possible.

Q:   but this would apply to both Dr Bottrill’s results and to your results?

A:   That’s exactly right.

Q:   so there is an internal standard, in terms of the histopathology and the regression of disease for both laboratories because you are comparing the same variables?

A:   Exactly.

Q:   And the only difference between the two re-reads is that your laboratory detected 3.5 times more biopsy confirmed high grade disease than Dr Bottrill’s laboratory?

A:   That’s exactly right.

Q:   Now could this represent under-reporting?

A:   Yes.

Q:   By Dr Bottrill?

A:   Yes.

Q:   Could it represent anything else in addition to what we've already discussed?

A:   No.  I mean, there may be something – give me a minute to think.  I mean, apart from the normal things that could happen, such as – I mean, but I suppose if we take under-reporting globally, meaning not such the appearances, transcription and all those different errors that can occur in a laboratory, if we are just talking about how the reports were sent out and as a pathologist taking full responsibility for those issuing reports, yes, there is under-reporting by that evidence.



CHAIR:   Under-reporting by Dr Bottrill?

A:   Under-reporting by Dr Bottrill.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   From the point of view of the record we need to go through the other two indicators on your exhibit.

A:   Yes, sure.

Q:   Dr Farnsworth, did you actually calculate the second indicator?

A:   No, I haven’t calculated any of these.  I was given them by Tracy so I haven't gone through the calculations myself.  

Q:   Perhaps you and I can do this.

A:   But I’m very happy to go through it, absolutely.

Q:   The second indicator is the % of women with high grade cytology and in brackets you say “as above”.  Does that mean including cancer?

A:   Including cancer, yes, but excluding the ASCUS high grade.

Q:   Thank you.  And subsequent normal histology or colposcopy (that is no histology taken)

A:   That’s right.

Q:   Can we go back to p50.  So this indicator, am I correct in saying, is looking at false positive reporting by the Pap smear?

A:   That’s right.

Q:   Page 50 is Dr Bottrill’s reading, and if we look at the second row under the title row, which is “high grade” and we go across this row to the column that’s called “normal”, is that a false positive?

A:   Yes, it is.

Q:   	In the second table, if we look at the row called high grade and we go across the row to the column called normal there is no false positive is that correct?

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	And if we go to table 5.4.c the row labeled high grade, we’re not actually looking at Dr Bottrill’s, this is actually your re-read .

A:   	I’m having trouble here.

Q:   	This is actually the Sydney re-read .

A:   	Yes the numbers didn’t collate at all.

Q:   	If we look at your row, lets stay with 50 we’ll stay with this one.  Look at the row called high grade and we go across that row to the column called normal there are 18 cases.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	So your total number of false positives is 22.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Now what is the usual denominator that you use in the calculation of this particular indicator?  Is it a normal histology biopsy?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	So if you look at the three tables table 5.4.a shows that there were 16 normal biopsies.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Table 5.4.b shows 18 normal biopsies.  It's the column called normal.  

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	The three tables don’t exactly line up.

A:   	No they don’t, that's fine.

Q:   	And table 5.4.c in the column called normal there are 42.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	So if we add these up, that's 76.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	So it's 22 false positives over 76 which is 28.9%.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	That's the Sydney re-read  all years.  This is quite a big difference between 81 over 292 and 22 over 76.  Ms Mellor?



MS MELLOR REPLIES

MS MELLOR:   	I’m trying to work it out.  I think what I tried to do there was to add in those on the table 5.1 so it would actually be 5.2 for the re-read  results where we’ve got no further action so these were colposcopies without histology and I think this is where we are getting the differences.

DR FARNSWORTH:	Yes that number assumed that the colposcopy was 100% reliable so we've been harder on ourselves.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	So table 5.1 or 5.2?

MS MELLOR:   	Table 5.2 for the re-read  results.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	On page 48 shows that over the three time periods 02/96 is the first time period, the second time period is 03/96 to 04/99 and the third one is 05/99.  No further action means that no histology was taken.

A:   	Yes that's right the colposcopy was considered to be normal.

Q:   	The inference there is that it's negative.  

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	The numbers are 40+8+198.

A:   	That's right.  Which one adds to the 76.

Q:   	Comes out to 322.

A:   	That's exactly right which is the sum of 292+136 in the middle set of data.

Q:   	So how then should we calculate the false positive rate for the Sydney re-read  is it 22 over 322?  I’ll let you think about that.

A:   	I actually can’t be sure how to do that I’ve got to be honest only because what they’re talking about is histology or colposcopy and yet –

Q:   	Would you accept Dr Farnsworth that these figures are not being compared to any published standard.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	These figures are only being compared between  these two laboratories.

A:   	Yes and if we do the same calculation for both.

Q:   	And if we do the same calculation for both they’re meaningful.

A:   	Exactly, extremely.

Q:   	So from the point of view of clean data, would you accept that we’ll stay with the denominator of 76?

A:   	That's fine.

Q:   	So could we amend the exhibit to read, re-read  all years instead of 81 over 292, we do 22 over 77 which would be 28.9%.

A:   	Yes.



MS MELLOR INTERJECTS

MS MELLOR:   	I think we need to correct the title as well because at the moment that title make it clear that no histology taking is included so we would need to take that out.

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	So you would like to amend the title to read normal histology and delete the rest?

A:   	Yes.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Dr Farnsworth could we delete past May 99.

A:   	Yes and just make it a global figure for all years.  Yes that's fine.

Q:   	And why can we do that.

A:   	Sorry.

Q:   	Why can we do that.

A:   	Well it's just another way of – there were just two sets of data analysed separately.  By putting it together and making the inter laboratory comparison that is a straight as you say clean set of numbers and in fact by just using the histology alone it gives you even a further set of data.  The numbers were broken down in terms of false positives to all years to include or to actually then separate out the post May 1999.

Q:   	Is that because in post May 99 you did expect a higher number of false positives?

A:   	Exactly it was because we expected a higher number of false positive because of the concept of regression.

Q:   	We do actually have that number, we could add it in, if you go back to page 50 table 5.4.c it is 18 over 42.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And that is 42.8%.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	Alright if we go to page 49 then which is Dr Bottrill’s data and we do the same exercise, on table 5.3.a original result of high grade, if you go across that row, he had two cases in the normal column so these are two cases of false positive high grade out of 16 biopsies called normal, so that’s two over 16, correct?

A:   Yes, that’s correct.

Q:    If we go to table 5.3B, and the original result of high grade and go across the row to the column called “Normal”, there is nothing in that column?

A:   That is right.

Q:   But there are 18 biopsies of normal?

A:   Yes. 

Q:   So that’s 0 over 18?

A:   [No response recorded]

Q:   And in the table 5.3, in the original result called “high grade” and we go across the row to the column called “Normal” there is 1 case of false positive out of 42 biopsies of normal?

A:   Yep.

Q:   So that’s 1 over 42.   And if we total those, that’s 3 over 76?  It’s 16 plus 18 plus 42?

A:   Yes, that’s fine.

Q:   And that % is 3.9%?

A:   Yes.

Q:   And for the table 5.3, which is the after May 1999 false positives, that is 1 over 42 for a rate of 2.3%?

A:   Uh huh.

Q:   Yes.

A:   Yes.

Q:   If you could just first amend your exhibit for Dr Bottrill all years are 3 over 76 for a rate of 3.9%, and post-May 1999 is 1 over 42 or 2.3%?   Correct?

A:   Yes, that’s correct.

Q:   Dr Farnsworth, what does this mean?

A:   It means that Dr Bottrill had a very low false positive rate, especially compared to the Sydney re-read.

Q:  Now the Sydney re-read was geared towards ensuring that women would have the best treatment?

A:   That’s right, yes.

Q:   And with that background, is it likely that you over-called?

A:   It is perceived as over-calling on the straight numbers.   The appearances that we used to make the diagnoses or the reports of high grades are appearances that we use in our everyday laboratory, and it may be that we do it in our normal day to day work.  And it is the concept of specificity v sensitivity and it also may be an approach of many years of experience in my particular – as I said, I suppose quality assurance procedures reviewing material etc., that we would use these particular appearances to report high grade cytology knowing that we are probably, as I say, and that the Australian standards would be set at a level whereby we know that only 65% are going to be confirmed, which means that it is perfectly satisfactory to have a false positive rate of 35%.  That’s within a timeframe.  By increasing your sensitivity, which means increasing your false positive rate, you do lower one’s specificity, which is the subsequent biopsy confirmation rate.  And I have heard it colloquially put that, where one sets the bar, but in a screening population where the Pap smear is designed to, in essence, sort out women who need to be further investigated v women who can then return to their normal screening interval, it is an accepted practice to in fact increase one’s sensitivity at the expense of specificity for that purpose.  It is well accepted, and arguably it is the way cytology should be practised, because it is a screening test and Pap smears are just one of numerous screening tests, and by the way the philosophies of specificity and sensitivity are the same with any screening test, that if one lowers one’s sensitivity ERGO increasing one’s specificity, a large number of significant lesions will be missed and the population will be put at risk.  And it is an accepted screening technique to in fact have a higher false positive rate so that one can in fact detect as many of those high grade lesions as possible.

Q:   If I’ve heard you correctly then, you have said that it is accepted in cervical screening practices that the specificity will be compromised in order to attain a better sensitivity -

A:   that’s right.

Q:   -  and you are not surprised at a false positive rate?

A:   Exactly.  And although a false positive rate is something that needs to be continually assessed and looked at as part of a normal laboratory’s processes, it would be of great concern if your false positive rate was extremely low because it would mean that you are therefore missing a large number of the high grade lesions that you're in fact looking for.



CHAIR:   Could that mean if you had a very low false positive rate that there was a greater likelihood that you may be under-reporting?

A:   Absolutely, and in fact that’s exactly what we’re talking about here.   We’re talking about, it’s like the eternal balance of sensitivity v specificity.  If you have, as I say, a very high or you have a very low false positive rate, meaning it’s approaching very low levels, it means that your sensitivity, your detection of the significant abnormalities that after all we’re looking for in a screening population, and again I come back to the fact that this is a screening process.   We basically want to sort the women out and yes, some specificity will be lost.   But that is an acceptable, and in fact, arguably, it’s the way Pap smears should be read.

Q:   Therefore, if you were looking for indicators of under-reporting could one possible indicator of under-reporting be a very low false positive rate?

A:   Yes.  By the way, it’s important that any one indicator is not taken alone.

Q:   No.

A:   Absolutely critical.

Q:   But taken with other indicators a low false positive rate would be a factor that would suggest under-reporting.

A:   	Taken with other parameters and again just back to the Australian performance standards we have a number of them.  They should never be taken in isolation but yes in a group, but one would argue look at the false positive rate and then go straight to the false negative rate and in fact if the whole science of cytology if you like, if there is such a thing, but the whole say basis of pap smear reading and more importantly the whole process of screening a population they should balance, they should – and in fact they should be – and in fact one would probably get more concerned if they didn’t balance.

Q:   	And the false positive rate that you’ve just given in this exhibit working through with Dr Duggan for Dr Bottrill’s laboratory, do you consider that to be high, low, acceptable.  I know that we don’t have standards here.

A:   	The false positive rate that we’ve just talked about of 3.9%?

Q:   	Yes, what's your opinion of it.

A:   	Well it's extremely low.

Q:   	Right so it would be permissible to take a false positive rate of 3.9% together with other factors as an indicator of under-reporting.

A:   	In isolation arguably it means that the cytology that was seen was in fact spot on.  I mean you must understand that.  So I don’t want to – I mean it's got to be seen in that context.  However if one is talking about a population screening exercise and one saw a very low false positive rate in association with a high false negative rate, one would be very concerned for that screening population.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Dr Farnsworth I know, but I should get you to say you know as well, it is not safe to extrapolate from screening population data on false positives and false negatives rates to the cohort that we are dealing with here.  Is that correct?

A:   	No it's not.  Wait a second can you just ask me that again?

Q:   	We are dealing with a very defined cohort here which may not be similar to cohorts that are reported in the literature and upon which false negative rates and false positive rates are determined.

A:   	That’s exactly right.  This is a unique group of cytology, this is a very unique set of numbers.

Q:   	And it's a basic principal in the research exercises such as we have just gone through that you compare apples with apples.

A:   	Exactly.

Q:   	So you would not consider it safe to extrapolate from the published literature on a population that may not resemble this one to the results of this particular cohort.

A:   	Yes that would be dangerous to do that.

Q:   	I would like to ask you one question about this false positive rate.  If we could go to page 49 which is Dr Bottrill’s results and table 5.3.c, Dr Bottrill had one case of false positive reporting.  Do you accept that that may be false positive reporting?  The colposcopic biopsy was reported as negative, do you accept that that is the truth?

A:   	Well I mean that particular table of course is many years later so if we accept that a biopsy was taken and it was negative, it may not be a true false positive, it may in fact be the same thing we’ve been talking about with the Sydney results that it could have been a regressed lesion  so what was originally reported as high grade may have been a true high grade at that time and if a biopsy had been taken in a timely manner so it may not, so it could be a true – it may not be a false positive either.

Q:   	It could be a true positive.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	Could it also be that the colposcopist did not detect the lesion  and failed to biopsy the correct lesion ?

A:   	Oh yes and in fact it has been discussed at this inquiry previously about the false negative rate associated with colposcopy and histology as well.

Q:   	And if you go over the page to page 50, table 5.4.c shows that 18 of the Sydney false positive out of the 22 in total were in this period.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	And do the same comments that apply to Dr Bottrill’s false positives apply to these false positives.

A:   	Yes absolutely and in fact it's exactly the same I mean you’ve got three factors, you’ve got regression, you’ve got false negative colposcopy and you’ve got – well arguably only two factors because I think we’ve established, or Mr Jones established or it's been established, that the histology in that period was done by an expert gynecological pathologist so I would presume the histology was correct which is the same for Dr Bottrill by the way so the same factors apply.

Q:   	If we can move to the third indicator which is the percentage of women with high grade (including cancer histology results who had abnormal cytology results reported).  So if we go back to page 49.  First of all can I ask you is this legend actually correct in terms of the analysis that you have provided.

A:   	It's correct in the sense that the abnormal cytology means all abnormal cytology not just high grade.

Q:   	But you have a separate calculation for high grade cytology.

A:   	Yes and so perhaps it should be correct to mean high grade and other abnormal cytology.

Q:   	So this is the percentage of women with high grade (including cancer histology results who had either – 

A:   	- high grade or other abnormal cytology).

Q:   	I think the numbers may actually demonstrate that's cancer  and high grade so can we amend that to read percentage of women with high grade (including cancer histology results who had –

A:   	- high grade or cancer and other abnormal cytology).    In essence it means any abnormality including cancer through to low grade.

Q:   	And can I ask you to clarify abnormal includes cancer, high grade SIL, ASCUS H, glandular lesions  -

A:   	- and low grade SIL.

Q:   	What about ASCUS.

A:   	And ASCUS L.

Q:   	If we can go back then to page 49 which is Dr Bottrill’s reporting.

A:   	And of course in this there was no ASCUS H or ASCUS L, sorry ASCUS there is just a generic ASCUS, there was no separation out to ASCUS H or ASCUS L but there's the other outside normal limits category in the first.  

Q:   	Is outside normal limits accepted.  Are you accepting that as an abnormal result?

A:   	I actually don’t know what that would be but I presume it would be accepted as outside.  I mean in all fairness it probably should be included.  I don’t know whether he meant a benign reactive change or?

Q:   	So ONL is abnormal correct?  If you can deal with the high grade cytology first off, first of all lets get the denominators correct here.  What we’re looking at here for the denominator is all biopsies called high grade or cancer over the three time periods correct?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	So for the first time period if you look at the original results and you go down to the end of that column it says total and you move over to the first column it's 10 cancers, the next column is 62 high grades in total that's 72.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	If you go to table 5.3 and we do the same exercise the total number of cancers and high grade on biopsy is 73 and on the third table the total number of cancers and high grade on biopsy is 71 correct?

A:   	Yes and that adds up to 216.

Q:   	And in total then there are 216.

A:   	Yes which is the correct denominator on that original piece of paper.

Q:   	Now this particular indicator looks at the smears of high grade or cancer that were confirmed by the biopsy here is that correct?  Or the smears of high grade and cancer predictive of high grade and cancer and were high grade and cancer on the biopsy?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	So under the column on 5.3.a the column called original result, the first row says cancer, if we go across into the first column, we have two cases.  

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	If we move to the next row which is high grade we have in the first column 4 cancers and in the next column 28 high grades.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	That's 2+4+28 is 34.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	So 34 out of 72 biopsies were correctly predicted by a smear of high grade or cancer?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	If we go to table 5.3.b and we do the same exercise, there are 73 biopsies and Dr Bottrill in the first column, second row labeled high grade, if you move across to the column called high grade, had 3 cases.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	That's 3 out of 73.  And for May 99 period there are 0.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	If we total up those 3 time periods, it's 34+3 which is 37.

A:   	Which is the correct number.

Q:   	That's right that's actually what you have in your exhibit.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And the denominator is the same.

A:   	Exactly so it's 37 out of 216 which is 17%.

Q:   	If we could go over to the next page and do the same exercise for the Sydney re-read , table 5.4.a has 55 cases, 55 smears.

A:   	Yes 4+5+3+43.

Q:   	Correct that's 55.  Table 5.4.b has 37.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	Which is 6+31, that's 37.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And for table 5.4.c under the column called re-read  result second row which is high grade, first column has five cancers, the second column has 34 high grades and we have included the adenocarcinoma-in-situ before as a high grade, shall we do that one again?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	So that was 40.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	55+37+40 is 132.

A:   	Yes and there must have been an error because it's 131 but it is 132 I’ve just checked that calculation.



MS MELLOR REPLIES

MS MELLOR:   	I’m saying on that one I’d obviously missed the glandular but that was an error.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	So it's 132 divided by 216 and that is actually 61% so we’ll amend that to read 61%.  Can you tell the panel what these numbers mean.  Dr Bottrill’s laboratory had a rate of 17% and you had a rate of 16%, or 61%?

A:   	In a way this is also looking at specificity.  Again how accurate the results were because they are purely looking at a direct one to one correlation of high grade to biopsy confirmed high grade and it's interesting given my previous comments regarding the sensitivity v.’s specificity is that on this particular way of looking at the same sets of numbers it would appear once again that in fact our specificity is reasonably high, well it's higher than Dr Bottrill’s.  I actually don’t know a performance standard to even – but again what we’re doing here is just comparing laboratory to laboratory not looking at a global population or even known information because this is so unique.  It just means that ours is much higher and Dr Bottrill’s is much lower.  It also is an indicator of – well in fact we’ll go to the next one because it's more to do with specificity of that original diagnosis rather than actual false negative if you like.  

Q:   	Could it indicate under-reporting?

A:   	Yes it certainly could indicate under-reporting.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Why is that?

A:   	Well as I say it – well under-reporting, certainly it indicates under-reporting in the actual exact terms of under-reporting meaning again we’ve prefaced all our comments about the principals of cervical screening but one does attempt to actually still make a reasonably accurate cyto diagnosis and so what we’re looking at here is the fact that it's almost a combination of results of both smears that have been under called both at a negative but also under called in terms of the actual cyto prediction so you’re not looking at just straight negative to a high grade you’re looking at the fact that as well as under-reporting at that level we’re also looking at a level of under-reporting at the actual cyto prediction level do you understanding.

CHAIR:   	What does that mean?

A:   	I mean all these different words ranging from ASCUS low grade, they do actually have defined cytological criteria, there are appearances that we look for to categorise the appearances in a slide, arguably in a screening programme and this can be argued, you just say yes or no, yes they need investigation, no they can go back into the normal screening population and some people in fact have argued that but what we do is we actually do that separation but then further categorise the actual cytology that we are seeing.  That categorization attempts to relate it to the biology. The changes that I talked about yesterday in the progression of the development from normal through to cancer are in fact graded and probably again relate to our biology of understanding of a series of switches if you like.  The need to be put on into a cell and so if you only have one switch turned on, which would be at the beginning of the process if you like, you may have a certain appearance v’s if you go right through to the end of that process when you see - and the way -  the terms we give those of course are low through to high grade so what we’re looking at here is in fact under-reporting not just in the yes/no separation but under-reporting within the categorisation of those appearances.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Dr Farnsworth could I ask you in terms of this indicator and the predictability of the high grade smear what we’re looking at here are 216 biopsies that were cancer or high grade.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And the Sydney re-read  had 132 smears of high grade.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	For a rate of 61% so that's your pick up rate or your prediction rate essentially is that correct?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And Dr Bottrill’s laboratory only had 37?

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	Could it be that the reason there is such a different between 17% and 61% is got to do with a total number that the Sydney re-read  has in contract to the small number that Dr Bottrill’s laboratory has of smears called high grade or cancer?

A:   	You mean the numbers we process normally?  I’m not quite –

Q:   	Maybe I’ll rephrase this.

A:   	You mean in the actual 37-132 is that –

Q:   	In this third indicator, Dr Bottrill’s laboratory showed the following.  Out of 216 biopsies of cancer or high grade his laboratory identified 37 women with high grade or cancer on their smears.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	The same denominator applied to the Sydney re-read , your number of women with cancer or high grade on their smears was 132.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	When you look at the rates, Dr Bottrill’s rate is 17% and the Sydney rate is 61%.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Do you accept that 17% is low relative to 61% being high?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Is the only reason, I shouldn’t say only, could it be that the reason there is such a difference in the rates has to do with the total number picked up by either laboratory.

A:   	Yes the difference between the total rates that we detected the 2.5% as opposed to the .5%.  Very much so.

Q:   	Because you had 132 women with pap smear results of high grade, Dr Bottrill had 37.

A:   	And that would relate – in fact I don’t know, what's that about 25% isn't it.  But it does relate, again it's another indicator of the fact that there was .5 called overall v’s the 2.5% that we called.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Is the rater of 17% for Dr Bottrill’s laboratory in the third indicator, I know we don’t have benchmark standards in New Zealand but nevertheless, in your experience as a pathologist would you describe that as a very low rate, low, medium, high, whatever.

A:   	It's extremely low.

Q:   	Would you say was unacceptably low?

A:   	Yes I would.

Q:   	And can you say why?

A:   	Back to my comments about cervical cancer remember that we are actually screening for these lesions, we are screening high grade lesions   both the Australian Government and the New Zealand Government spend a large amount of money trying to look after the women of their countries.  These are the lesions   we are actually looking for because it's these lesions   that by finding them at this stage you can remove and actually prevent cancer.  It would seem to me that if you are picking up such a small percentage of the actual disease that exists in that community of screened women, then basically you shouldn’t have a screening programme at all because it's not doing any good.

Q:   	And if we could just go back over to summarise, we’ve gone through the three indicators, if we take each of these three indicators and look at them as a group, do the three of them together go someway to providing an indication that Dr Bottrill was under-reporting?

A:   	Yes they do.

Q:   	And on a 10 point scale if you can, can you tell me how far does the combination of these three indicators take you?

A:   	You want an under-reporting, 10 is high and 0 is low?

Q:   	Yes.

A:   	So 10 is a high rate of under-reporting is that right?

Q:   	No no the likelihood, I’m looking for the likelihood of underreporting, if you combine these, we’ve agreed that the combination of these three indicators indicate under-reporting.

A:   	They indicate a very high level of under-reporting, a very high level and if one wanted to grade it from 10 being the highest level of under-reporting you could have v’s 0 to no under-reporting I’d give him an 8.

Q:   	Right.  Would you say that was unacceptable under-reporting?

A:   	Absolutely.

Q:   	Now the other point I’d like to know is, you’ve come to this opinion on the basis of these three indicators.  Are they sufficient to come to a view on under-reporting or do you need to take other factors into account.  In other words, can you reliable say on the basis of these three indicators, there has been under-reporting to a level of an 8 which you would say is unacceptable?

A:   	These three indicators would allow me to say that but there are other factors that I am aware of which would also influence, if you wanted to ask me again, from other points of view but alone these three indicators would indicate that, but there are other factors or other, if you like, other evidence that I am aware of that would also indicate an 8 level of under-reporting.

Q:   	Could you please say what that is?

A:   	OK.  First of all my knowledge of the raw figures, the .5% v’s the 2.5% and combined with that my knowledge of the appearances that we saw and I know that we established this morning that I don’t know which of the slides we saw and I’m very conscious of that in terms of proof of evidence, however if one could say take globally what I saw compared to the .5%, the appearances and I will go back to my original point about the examples that I used, they were very indicative to me of obvious profound cytology that could not – I couldn’t explain as to why they had not been seen and that was an 8.  That's also an 8, just the cytological appearances were an 8.

Q:   	To say that you’d have to be satisfied that you had seen more than .5%.

A:   	Yes and that's again – I think we used the word impression this morning and I suppose that's really all I have to use today.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Dr Farnsworth we’ve spent some time on these three indicators here and I do feel that –



CHAIR INTERJECTS

CHAIR:   	We’ll take a short break until 3:45.



INQUIRY RETIRES FOR AFTERNOON ADJOURNMENT AT 3:23 PM



�

INQUIRY RESUMES FOLLOWING 

AFTERNOON ADJOURNMENT AT 3:52 P.M.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	[recording missing] the second part of the third indicator for the point of view of the record.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And this part 2 of the third indicator is other abnormal cytology.

A:   	That's right, not just high grades.

Q:   	I am correct then in interpreting that to mean any report that is abnormal other than cancer or high grade SIL.

A:   	That's right yes.

Q:   	So shall we then go to page 49 which is Dr Bottrill’s data and we have on table 5.3.a the column original result, we go down to the third row which is low grade and ASCUS and outside normal limits, there are the three that we’re going to include.

A:   	Yes.  And it's 17+1+4+3.

Q:   	That's 25.  And what is the denominator here?  Is it 72?

A:   	The denominator is the same because they’re inclusive I think so it's the same so the high grade so it's a 2/16 again.  

Q:   	So it's 25 over the 72 for the 91-96 period.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	For 5.3.b which is the 96-99 period we go to the first column which is original results and we take low grade ASCUS and outside normal limits again and we go 1+6+ -

A:   	69.  No it's not it's 70.

Q:   	What is the number?

A:   	70.

Q:   	70 over 73.  And for table 5.3.c what is the number for that, on the original result column it's low grade, it's 1+5+8 which is 14+5+5 is 24, 31 is that correct?  For other abnormal.

A:   	No we’re on 5.3.c.  Yes it's 16.

Q:   	Oh sorry 16, we’re just in high grades.

A:   	That's right 5+5+5+1 is 16 over 71 which gives a total of –

Q:   	111.

A:   	That's right which is the correct number which is what we had in the original unchanged -

Q:   	51%.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	And if we go to page 50 which is the re-read  and the same exercise –

A:   	And we include ASCUS H in this as well.

Q:   	Right so for 5.4.a we have 1+ -

A:   	We have 17+ - it's 36.

Q:   	That's correct 36.  And 5.4.c is –

A:   	Is 32.

Q:   	32 correct.  And in total that is –

A:   	It's 85 which is correct.  Which is the 85 over 216 which is the 40%.  

Q:   	Now what does this indicator mean in terms of Dr Bottrill’s reporting and the Sydney laboratory reporting?

A:   	It is in fact a more specific marker of false negative cytology if one takes it globally.  As we talked about before the break – I mean an actual very simple way to put it is if we actually did or organised a screening programme so that one had either an abnormal category v’s a normal category this particular additional data would show that in fact Sydney would have separated all the correct results into the need investigation group whereas the original laboratory would have not identified a significant percentage of women so it's in fact a fairly global, for want of a better word, without any specificity of false negative rate.

Q:   	So which laboratory is better?

A:   	The Sydney re-read  would in terms of screening programmes be much more accurate because the whole purposes of course, as I say, from a screening programmes point of view is to be able to separate the women out, again looking for high grade lesions it would have separated out or it did separate out in this particular example, the women that did deserve to have further investigation whereas there would have been 32% of women in this particular population who had high grade lesions who would have then been returned to the screening pool and said that they don’t actually have to have another smear for 3 years.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Would you just say why that is?  Could you just say how you come to that conclusion?

A:   Again, I’m using the very simple concept of a screening programme, talking about sensitivity and leaving aside specificity, and if we take the example that a screening programme should be designed to in fact separate out, or it’s actually designed to detect abnormalities that are present in the screened population or the potentially screened population, and if one takes a very simplistic premise that you call that group perfectly okay, they can return and come back for their next Pap smear in 3 years as opposed to the group that needs to have something further done - and arguably that is the whole purpose of the screening programme - then the Sydney re-read would have in fact taken out of that large group of women and looking for the high grade abnormalities it would have in fact put all the women who had abnormalities present and high grade significant abnormalities, which is the one we’re trying to detect, it would have actually put all of them into the “correct” basket, for want of a better word.   Whereas in the original re-read, there was – I mean, in fact we can talk about women rather than just numbers, we can talk about 150 – no, there would have been 68 women who were arguably falsely reassured that they had nothing wrong with their cervix and could just return for a further smear.  

Q:   The high grade you’re describing as cancer and CIN 2 and 3?

A:   that’s right, yes.

Q:   And the other abnormal cytology would be CIN 1 and –

A:   Yes, it’s anything other than normal.   So not all of those get recommended for colposcopy, but again, in terms of just flagging that woman as to having an abnormality in her Pap smear and needing to do something other than return, as I say, to the normal screening programme, and as I said there's often arguments in screening circles that that’s actually the way it should be.

Q:   Yes.  So these 68 women are women who would have had read as abnormal –

A:   Sorry, read as normal.

Q:   Read as normal, put back into the screening population, therefore, when in fact they should have gone on to colposcopy?

A:   Yes, exactly, which is about 1/3rd of the women.

Q:   So adding on, before the break I took you through the three indicators – this is another – it seems that the third indicator falls in to two parts, this is the second part –

A:   that’s right.

Q:   - which we hadn't considered before.

A:   That’s right, which we hadn't come to, right, but it is further evidence.

Q:   Adding that, and it’s further evidence –

A:   Absolutely.

Q:   - further evidence of –

A:   Of significant under-reporting.

Q:   - under-reporting.  Right.



MR HODSON:   Could I seek some clarification.  The low grade ones were not necessarily sent back into the pool;  if it was there second low grade they should have been investigated.  I understand -

A:   Oh, no, no, we’re –

Q:   We’re talking about the ones that were read as normal?

A:   Yes, we are, we’re only talking about those, because in fact we’re including all of those – even ones that weren't necessarily – yes, no, no, you’re right.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   Thank you Dr Farnsworth, and I think we’ve done enough maths for one day.  This colposcopy data is incomplete, you will acknowledge that?

A:   Yes, at this stage it is.  I acknowledge that.

Q:   Thank you very much.   Dr Farnsworth, I would just like to clarify Mr Hodson’s point, please.  

A:   Oh, yes.

Q:   It’s the third indicator, the Part 2 that we've just gone through.

A:   Yes.

Q:   In Dr Bottrill’s laboratory there were 111 cases of other abnormal cytology.

A:   Yes.

Q:    Now these reports ranged from low grade –

A:   In fact, we included the, other than – we even included – we included the outside normal limits category as well.

Q:   These are reports on women, isn't that correct?

A:   That’s right.   These are all women, these aren't smears.

Q:   And these women would have a report of either low grade ASCUS or outside normal limits?

A:   That’s right, yes.

Q:   And is it correct to say that they would be on an increased surveillance and screening rather than returning for a 3 yearly screening cycle?

A:   Yes, exactly, exactly, they would have been flagged as being something that they would have needed another smear.  I’m not actually familiar with the recommendations at that time, but they would have again, taking my gross example, being put into the “not normal” pool, so they would have been pulled out and flagged as something other than normal.

Q:   but these 216 women had biopsies on high grade?

A:   Yes, that’s right.

Q:   So –

A:   Yes, but again I guess I’m not trying to be too prescriptive because, again if we’re just comparing the two laboratories, that’s all we’re doing here, and we’ve included for instance in the Sydney re-read we've included low grades as well, which are also – I mean, our recommendation for those appearances that we see is a repeat smear in 6 months, so yes, not all of them would have gone on to colposcopy.   But it’s a very, as I tried to indicate before, it’s a broad marker of false negatives rather than anything – it is actually just saying that they have been detected by the screening programme as being abnormal.

Q:   So that the Sydney laboratory had lesser numbers of women with diagnosis of other abnormal cytology –

A:   that’s right, yes.

Q:   - compared to Dr Bottrill’s laboratory?

A:   Exactly, which –

Q:   Amongst a group who had high grade on biopsy?

A:   that’s exactly right.  Yes, which would indicate on these numbers that are actually specificity was quite reasonable because they were high grade lesions, so if there is a smaller number that were called something other than high grade then it means that we actually, or the Sydney re-read identified those again more specifically – meaning that the cytological prediction was arguably more correct.



CHAIR:   And in respect of Dr Bottrill’s reading, there would have been a group of women who histology has shown had high grade lesions but they would not have been put in the high grade lesion category and therefore are not likely to have received the treatment that women who have recognised high grade lesions would receive?

A:   so quickly, and in fact that is one of the main reasons why we categorise the abnormalities rather than just doing that because there is obviously a significant management difference between an immediate colposcopy v a repeat smear in 6 months.



CHAIR:    Does that answer the issue you raised Mr Hodson?

MR HODSON:   I think it gets us into areas that this witness can't deal with, because if it was second low grade and the expected recommendation would have been “refer for assessment”, this witness will have no idea what would happen as compared to high grade “refer for assessment.”

CHAIR:   That’s all right.   So it’s just another variable we have to take into account when looking at this indicator?

MR HODSON:   It gets us back to the point of looking to see who suffered.

CHAIR:   Yes, thank you.  Well, as a result of that questioning from the Committee, has that short-circuited other questions?

MR GRIEVE:   Are you looking hopefully at me Madam Chair?

CHAIR:   Well, yes, Mr Grieve, because I’m aware there are other people who need to ask questions as well, particularly I should think Mr Hodson.  I’m concerned to ensure that he most of all, given that he represents Dr Bottrill, has a fair opportunity to question this witness.

MR GRIEVE:   Yes, well, I am going to leave out large areas and I think I should  relinquish my role as senior counsel and give it to Professor Duggan.  I don’t presume for a moment to call myself Dr Grieve!



MR GRIEVE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS	

MR GRIEVE:   	Dr Farnsworth what I just want to look at now are some issues relating to causes of what happened in Gisborne and in particular I want to look at questions relating to training just briefly.  We’ve have evidence and I’ll just ask you if you agree that an average time for reading a smear for a primary screener should be something like between 5-10 mins.

A:   	Yes that's a reasonable amount of time.

Q:   	Now on that basis if Dr Bottrill was reading approximately 20 smears per day which is what we understand was about the rate, then that would take depending on the numbers as to minutes per smear one uses, between 1 hr 40 up to 3 hours 20 per day of his time.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Now we know nothing of what his total average daily workload was, but in your view is that workload or that volume of smear reading sufficient to require that the primary screener have the sort of training that you’ve referred to which would be required in your laboratory.

A:   	Oh I mean irrespective of times – I mean I would strongly suggest and it would be my firm held belief that anyone that reads a pap smear needs to undergo training to do the screening as I’ve tried to explain earlier the screening is an integral part of pap smear examination and unless that particular process is carried out with the appropriate care, the pap smear reading is completely unreliable.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Dr Farnsworth would you consider yourself to be competent to do primary screening?

A:   	I can primary screened.  I have trained myself to primary screen largely because I do a lot of reviewing and things and so I need to approach it in a particular way.  I don’t know whether I would have the patience to sit at a microscope.  A cytologist’s day consists of arriving at work and we have a 7.5 hr day in our laboratory and they take a series of slides and they have to sit all day, and they get lunch breaks and appropriate breaks and one thing and another, but that is their job, they screen methodically these slides and it is a hard, hard job to do well and the people that do it are self-selected as I say, they usually are very obsessive kind of people, which are the kind of people that you would want to read your pap smear and they take it with a great deal of seriousness I suppose and so I guess in answer to your question I could do it but I probably wouldn’t want to do it.

Q:   	And in terms of your knowledge of most pathologists who have training in pathology, what would you say?

A:   	Well as I said I know of one pathologist in Australia who actually has worked as a cytologist as a primary screener and that is one only.  I don’t know of any pathologists who have actually undergone the rigorous training that we would expect of a cytology to do that screening.



MR GRIEVE CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MR GRIEVE:   	Because we haven’t heard from Dr Bottrill yet, I’ll put these questions about training to you on a hypothetical basis but it would appear hypothetically at the moment that he had some months of some sort of cytology training, 3-4 months, back in the late 50’s as part of his pathology specialty course.  Other than that, it would appear that he underwent no specialist cytology training, no specialist courses or anything like that.  He came to New Zealand in the early 60’s and ultimately came to Gisborne and began reading the Gisborne cytology from about 1967 or 1968.  What comment would you have on the adequacy of his training for that task?

A:   	If no further training, let alone ongoing education, meaning attendances at seminars, tutorials, all those things, if no formal training had been undertaken in primary screening, again I’ll just talk personally, but if I’d done three months in a big hospital doing some gynecological cytology as part of my training, that would have been inadequate for me to act as a primary screener.

Q:   	With that sort of level of training that I have suggested to you may prove to be the case, would that indicate or would that suggest to you as being one reason why these obvious abnormalities that you’ve described were not picked.

A:   	It could be a reason yes.

Q:   	Any other reason?

A:   	As you would appreciate this is mere conjecture, of course I don’t know and I will never know, but as I say one possible  explanation that I have thought through in my own mind is the possibility  that these slides did not undergo that rigorous screening process and I don’t say that lightly because of course I’ve spent a lot of time – you can imagine I’ve thought about this a lot and it is often, pap smear screening is often – or can be easily misunderstood and that initial phase of screening the slide may not be recognised as an integral part of the process.  There is another form of pathologist where we use microscopes called histopathology which is tissue sections and in that a piece of tissue, a piece of a skin lesion or whatever is actually looked at under the microscope.  The whole lesion is actually presented, it's clearly visible and one can basically put it under your microscope and if it's a fairly obvious lesion make a very rapid diagnosis it's a fairly – to a pathologist who has been doing it for a long time it isn’t hard.  That's a very simplistic – but my point is you don’t have to screen it.  You may screen other things but you don’t have to screen it.  You have to screen every pap smear.

Q:   	When you say these smears or some of them may not have undergone the rigorous screening process –

A:   	Again this is conjecture because I don’t know that.

Q:   	I understand that.  Are you meaning the process of looking at the individual smears in such a way that all available material that is all fields are viewed methodically.

A:   	Exactly and as I said it's actually described in numerous text books and I didn’t bring it with me but it is described in Cos in publications from the 1960’s and in fact it is a grid like pattern one has to overlap and it is a very methodical process of examining every cell on that slide and cytologists are actually trained, even if you find an abnormality in your first field, you’d need to screen the whole thing.

Q:   	Do I understand that the process involves going in, what do we call them, waves up and down the smear.

A:   	Yes if you like, I mean there's a pap smear, one starts at one corner and the cytologists use whatever technique they choose.  Some go across-ways, some up and down.   They actually move it slowly and in that particular way, and it’s screening so they don’t stop and analyse the cells, they are looking to pick out abnormalities in a busy field.  That’s what they're trained to do, and as I already explained yesterday, that is something that does not come naturally to the human eye.

Q:   If it was suggested that, given some cytology training as part of the normal pathology specialty course, with that sort of training and say a two week course at, is it the VGCS?

A:   Yes, call it the VCS, that’s it’s current name.

Q:   If it was suggested that a 2 week course there would be sufficient training to permit one to be a primary screener, what would you say about that?

A:   The VCS course that I'm familiar with for pathologists, they have two courses that are run usually annually – one is for cytologists and one is for pathologists – does not include any screening component.   The VCS course that’s run, it’s usually annually, sometimes they miss a year, for pathologists does not include a screening component.

Q:   We know now that Dr Bottrill’s laboratory was never TELARC accredited while he was there;  it didn't become TELARC accredited until after he left.

A:   Yep.

Q:  Do you have any comment about that, in terms of impact on the appearances you observed?

A:   A pathologist, or a primary screener, or someone that had taken the time to train could actually still do a perfectly adequate job without TELARC accreditation if they chose to.  I mean, if they chose to do it.   That knowledge, as I said, has been around forever – well not forever, since 1960 or earlier.  Arguably a pathologist does not need some government body to tell them how to do their job, and so it would be perfectly reasonable that a pathologist who did take that time or that trouble, you don’t need a government to tell you how to do a Pap smear.  Arguably that’s not their job anyway.

Q:   One final question.  We also know that Dr Bottrill did not participate in any external quality assurance programme;  what comment would you have about that?

A:   Again, it is possible – it’s probably unlikely, but it is possible.  Remember that both things like TELARC accreditation, NATA accreditation in Australia, quality assurance programmes, are designed to aid a pathologist in doing their job.   We all need checks and balances.  They are designed to aid that.  External quality assurance programmes may help a pathologist who doesn't know how to set up other quality assurance programmes within their practice.  And so that person perhaps could go ahead and do a lot of quality assurance within their own practice, have local or colleagues that they refer to or discuss with.  What perhaps – I mean, a situation – things like TELARC or NATA and external quality assurance programmes, as I think I've already explained, are there for two purposes:  one is usually educative, so that someone could use it to help them make sure that their work was maintained, the concept of ongoing medical education, continuing education – all those important things can function at that level as well, but if you didn't have any of those accreditation processes or be enrolled in an external quality assurance programme, you would be running an enormous risk of a failure to make sure that your own professional, the way you worked, was adequate.  So it would be, you would be running an enormous risk not to participate in those processes.

Q:   And given the extent to which you've quantified, with the assistance of Professor Duggan and Madam Chair, the extent of the under-reporting, are you now surprised that it appears that Dr Bottrill was neither TELARC accredited nor that he attended any quality assurance programmes?

A:   No, he obviously chose to – well, not obviously, he must have made a decision to choose to practice like that, and again that’s his choice.

Q:   And it put women at risk, didn't it?

A:   Well unfortunately it has.

Thank you.



CHAIR:   Dr Farnsworth, would you say that the benefit of external quality assurance and accreditation with a body like TELARC is that it will go some way to reduce the likelihood of under-reporting?

A:   Absolutely, and it is something that we all acknowledge, that we all needs checks and balances.  Arguably one could pretend to do it oneself, and maybe, as I said, some people may be able to do that, but I think that given that we are all human and errors occur, everyone makes mistakes, and in fact most of these processes are designed to minimise those mistakes and so, therefore, minimise risks of under-reporting.

Thank you.   Yes Ms Bunkle.  Could I just check first with Mr Hodson.  I’m quite concerned that he has sufficient time with the witness?   Would you like to go next?

MR HODSON:   I would like to start now, ma'am, and I would anticipate – my guess is usually reasonable – finishing by 5.00.

CHAIR:   That’s fine.  I will have Mr Hodson next because it’s important that he have every opportunity to question the witness.

MR HODSON:   Thank you ma'am.



XXN MR HODSON:   

Q:   May I say first, Dr Farnsworth, that you may have anticipated that I rise to criticise and correct you;  I have no instructions to that effect from Dr Bottrill.  To the contrary, it seems from your brief and from the way you've given your evidence that you have devoted your concerns to the benefit of the women of Gisborne.   I’m sure they are indebted to you.   And may I say, to the extent that you've assisted this Inquiry in the search for truth, we are all indebted to you.  Having said that, I want to obtain some further information which I hope will be of assistance.  In many of your comments today, and yesterday, you've told us of things that are interesting to you and that have caused conversation and discussion in your laboratory in Sydney, but you accept, I think, that to reach valid conclusions this committee must be concerned with scientific assessment so far as that is possible.

A:   Absolutely.

Q:   And all the evidence that you have given must be looked at in the light of the definitive material rather than the opinion material that the Inquiry may have been able to gather from other sources?

A:   Yes, that’s correct.

Q:   Could we look please at your brief of evidence, I just want to go through some aspects of it.  Para 1 you describe your qualifications and you mention, in particular, your Fellowship of the International Academy of Cytology.  My understanding is that one can become a member of that body by the payment of money, but the attainment of a Fellowship, election to Fellowship, represents the result of real work?

A:   An examination.

Q:   And what is involved in obtaining the Diploma of Cytopathology?

A:   The Diploma of Cytopathology is a post-graduate exam – well, it is an examination – that is offered by the Royal College of Pathologists.  It is a tiered exam that involves a series of different steps and the complete exam involves an examination, presentation of a casebook of some particular cytological examples, a slide examination, a practical examinations and a viva voce examination.  The diploma was introduced, I can’t remember it was some years ago, but in the mid 1990’s.

Q:   	We heard from Dr Teague that there is no formal requirement in New Zealand for any pathologist who wishes to practice as a cytopathologists to the extent that he or she is in a position to collect payment from our equivalent of Medicare, to have any specialist training in cytology outside the training one gets in the course of a general fellowship.  Is that the position in Australia?

A:   	It is indeed.

Q:   	At paragraph 2 of your brief you refer to the detailed CV that you’ve provided, I think you came to Douglass Hanley Moir Pathology about 5 years ago.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	And previously you’d spent a substantial period of time at Dr Colin Laverty’s laboratory?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And it was in the course of working with him that you have published extensively and co-authored a number of papers.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	What was the year that you went to DHM?

A:   	October of 1995.

Q:   	Now as I understand the situation DHM & Associates and perhaps some other laboratories can be regarded as being in competition in Sydney and indeed in other states for the work that they perform

A:   	We are in competition in Sydney but Laverty’s does take pap smears from Melbourne but Douglass Hanley Moir are only recently, and in fact Douglass Hanley Moir doesn’t take any work from Melbourne, but Melbourne Pathology was purchased at the end of last year by our organisation but that's a fairly recent thing.

Q:   	Are there other laboratories competing with these two in Sydney?

A:   	Oh yes it's a very competitive market for pathology in Sydney.

Q:   	I’d just like to explore that for a moment.  In cytology I take it as happens in New Zealand, you get paid a fee for service by Medicare.

A:   	We do.

Q:   	And how much is that for reading smears?

A:   	The scheduled fee for a pap smear is about $25 plus some cents and I can’t remember exactly whether it's 85 or something but it's of the order of between  $25 and $26.

Q:   	And is there any co-payment by the patients?

A:   	Yes they can claim 85% of that back on Medicare and the subsequent amount they have to pay themselves.

Q:   	Is there any competition by price between  the laboratories.

A:   	Interestingly enough price doesn’t actually become a competitive thing because in fact Laverty’s charges a  much more substantial fee than the scheduled fee and it's I suppose a policy of our organisation to charge schedule fees, that's just our pricing policy.  Laverty’s has a huge share of the pap smear market in Sydney but they as I say actually charge, I can’t remember, but some years ago it was upwards of $45 so the patient had a substantial out of pocket payment.

Q:   	Is that an illustration of the benefits of economies of scale?

A:   	Laverty’s in fact does more pap smears than we do, they do around 200,000 pap smears a year so - I don’t know what you mean by economies of scale – in fact economically that is not a reasonable thing – the pricing in large laboratories I can’t draw an equation between  those two.

Q:   	We’ve had considerable discussions which you may have followed all or part of of whether there should be lower limits for the numbers of smears read by a laboratory and I was curious as to whether you could assist us as to whether that would make the process cheaper per unit?

A:   	No the number of pap smears a laboratory does per year has often, and can be and may have, a good correlation with quality but in terms of cost, because it's a labour intensive test at this stage, the more pap smears one does, the more cytologists you need to employ and that is our primary labour cost.  The more cytopathologists you need to employ which is also another labour cost, the actual overheads in terms of equipment and all those things are very minimal in the pricing of a pap smear.

Q:   	So the important consideration is to have an appropriate number of smears per staff member?

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	Do you compete by publishing known error or accuracy rates?

A:   	No we don’t.

Q:   	Are such figures known generally.

A:   	No they’re not.

Q:   	Go on to paragraph 4 of your brief please.  You speak of the phone call from Dr Fitzgerald and you mention that you had initially thought you could use some automated screening devices.  Now I think when you left Dr Laverty and came to Douglass Hanley Moir you developed an enthusiasm if you didn’t have it already for automated screening devices.

A:   	Enthusiasm might be the wrong word but I developed certainly an interest.

Q:   	An interest, thank you, could you just please tell us about that, particular in connection with the device the PAPNET.

A:   	Certainly.  At the time I actually left Laverty’s there was an emergence of interest generally, not just on my part, but certainly worldwide, in alternative techniques rather than the conventional smearing the pap smear and the manual reading.  There were a number of different developments.  There was a number of fluid based systems which is basically a collection, a way to collect the pap smears, but there had been in America developed a number of automated devices, in fact there were 3 that I am aware of were very simple put, a video camera is placed on the top of a microscope, the images are fed into a very fancy and extensively programmed computer, and there were various ways it's done, but that in fact aided arguably the screening process.  PAPNET had been in use at Douglass Hanley Moir in fact it was Douglas at the time that introduced PAPNET into Australia in January of 1995.  We continue to have it, when I got there in fact it had been used for all pap smears for a year and we in fact published those results in the Medical Journal of Australia, but it has always been my belief, that any of these additional techniques whether they be the fluid based systems or whether they be the automated screening, have to demonstrate an improvement over a good manual screen, but they also have to be economically viable because of the concept of screening programmes and funding and soforth.  We had PAPNET and we continued to offer PAPNET as a – patients can choose to have it as an additional test after a normal manual screen but we undertook in the period June 1998 through to June 1991, a primary screening trial where we in fact primarily screened our pap smears through PAPNET.  It is - we are still working on that but it was actually truly a scientific study as opposed to the other one that we reported.  We completed that in the June and in fact we were coming to completion of just the reading, not the analysis at the time that I took the call from Dr Fitzgerald and because of the urgency that this particular re-reading  needed to be done and because of the pressure of  the work I suggested that we could actually use the PAPNET as a primary screener at that time, apart from which as I said we were very involved with it.

Q:   	Just pause for a moment.  You’ve got to the pap smear.  My question is at this point:  Do you see the PAPNET co-ordinated procedure in the future as a substitute for manual, eyeball screening?

A:   The PAPNET will not be, unfortunately.   The PAPNET company itself has gone into liquidation and the technology has been bought by another company and it’s been incorporated into a conglomerate in America.   So PAPNET itself will never be used as a primary screener.  Whether there is another automated machine that can screen a Pap smear in the future, I don’t know, but there's a good chance that it will be, but the current state of knowledge, it will be a fairly long way off.

Q:   So for the foreseeable future, a manual screener is what we are going to have to have?

A:   That’s right.

Q:   Now you were told, as you mentioned in para 5, that the re-reading was going to be done manually, and in due course you signed a contract, and I wonder if we could look at that contract now, please – it’s EM/CA7.   If you could just glance at it and you'll see at p5 I think your signature.

A:   Yep.

Q:   I've asked others this and I would like your comment.   If you look at p1, para 2.2, you obligated yourself to use your best endeavors to promote and protect the interests of the Health Funding Authority.

A:   Yes.

Q:   What did you think you were undertaking?

A:   (a), I thought this was a standard contract, and I suppose I really didn't think about it too much, I've got to be honest.  There was nothing inherently – we didn't kind of agonise, and I appreciate you're a lawyer and I’m not, but we didn't actually agonise through each – and this is the truth – of these particular dot points.  It was a standard contract as we understood it, and I do know that the only beholden thing in this contract which was made very clear to me by the Health Funding Authority was confidentiality.   And I also in fact interpret that particular para as confidentiality in terms of both discussing our results.  I was bound – whether it be in that particular clause or another clause, I'm not sure, but I wasn’t able to divulge the results to anybody else.   But also, too, there was patient confidentiality.  We were very conscious of the Maoris and confidentiality patient reasons as well.

Q:   At any rate, you can confirm for us that there was no occasion on which there was a diversion of interests?

A:   Absolutely.

Q:   Thank you.  Now the important part of the contract, Schedule 1, could we look at that please, p6 after your signature.  

A:   Yes.

Q:   Now in the second para the contract has what the military would describe as a flaw, there are two aims.  One to ensure that women receive the appropriate treatment for their health and wellbeing;  and secondly, to determine the extent of the problem regarding the pathologist concerned.  Now when this was drawn to Professor McGoogan’s attention she said, p1030, that “here lies a potential conflict.”   Did you see that?

A:   I don’t – I mean it may have been conventional wisdom on Professor McGoogan’s part, but I did not then, and don’t think that that represented any conflict of interest.   The aim, well the actual design of the project for reasons even other than that particular first sentence was such that we would do it in exactly the same manner that we screen our normal slides, and so be it if we found – meaning it wasn't designed to actually – I mean, if in the course of that screening there was a discrepancy between the original results and what we found, we had no concept of knowing whether that was going to occur, we certainly didn't know, but on the other hand we were aware of that, that there may be a discrepancy of results.  That particular clause was also put in because of - it hadn't been extensively discussed about the principles of doing a re-read at all.  No, I do understand that that’s not for discussion in this Inquiry, but let me just say that we discussed that extensively as well, and including me, because I kept suggesting they do other things.

Q:   You've said that already, it’s in your brief.  If there had been no question of worrying about the pathologist or his problem would it not have been most effective for you to have been given a free hand and, for example, to have used, if you wanted to, the automated screening or any other technique you had?

A:   I think the main issue even with the PAPNET was that it probably was a little bit bold of me to suggest its use, given that we do know that manual screening is a reliable test.  Although, as I say, we just finished our primary screening, we hadn't analysed those results and, therefore, there may have been a question in terms of the PAPNET not picking up the abnormalities for the women’s sake.  And so at the end of the day, even though it had been discussed, we did choose to use a tried and true method.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   Dr Farnsworth, is PAPNET accepted as a primary screener anywhere in the world?

A:   No, it’s not.  Exactly.  And it is used, I might say, in Holland.   As you know Matilda Boone uses it as a primary screener, but it is not accepted as a truly tested method.



MR HODSON:   Perhaps if I put the question a bit differently:  If you had simply been asked to do the re-screening, as you would do it without any direction at all from the Health Funding Authority, and forget about the original screening by the pathologist, what would you have done differently?

A:   Nothing.

Q:   Could you go please to the last para on that page and just help me with the sentence in the third line beginning “this requires the design and implementation” so on and so forth – can you tell me what that means, that sentence?

A:   I mean I must admit it basically means that we needed to do it thoroughly, keep statistics for analysis, and to actually I guess collate the results in a way that we could even compare the re-read results with our normal results in Sydney.  I mean, we wanted to make sure that appropriate records were kept, that could occur.  I mean, we could have just sent the reports back without any attempt at collation or other methods.

Q:   What did you do?

A:   Well, that’s in fact what we did, but the Health Funding Authority, as we know, has gone through extensive collation and analysis of the particular results that were issued.

Q:   So that sentence really refers to making it possible for the Health Funding Authority to do work rather than for you to do it?

A:   Yes, very much, and in fact – I mean, it’s even interesting about the fact that I didn't take more photos and things like that.  We very much just did the work and reported it back to the Health Funding Authority, even to the point – and remember that we returned all the slides quickly.   The whole analysis and the whole, as I said, collation of the results was something that we – and in fact it’s interesting if I’m not familiar with the numbers I haven't been party to that, but whether it was the correct thing or not, that was the way we designed it.

Q:   Turning the page, then, to the para starting screen the slide by way of your recognised screening processes, do you see that paragraph numbered 4 over the page?

A:   	On page 7?

Q:   	Page 8.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Now the recognised screening processes that you are following are those of a laboratory with the numbers and staff capable of following those processes aren’t they.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Taking them in order, you’ve told us that restraining was not necessary, it was well done.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	And the next thing that happened in about half of the slides was to recover slip.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Now that's not in the contract, why was it done?

A:   	Why was it done?  Because this contract was signed before I’d seen any of the slides.  I didn’t know at the time the condition that the slides would arrive in and I must admit giving the time lapse I had thought there may have been some fading of the slides.  It's quite common for the stains that we use to fade with time and so I thought that may have been necessary.  I did not anticipate at the time of the contract that we would want to recoverslip them.  It was only when the first batch arrived and we saw that there was, substantial to me, a substantial amount of material that wasn’t coverslipped that we thought that we should probably undertake that process.

Q:   	But after you had gone through sufficiently to ring Mr DuRose and say look what’s going on here, you were in a position as you’ve told us to know that what you are seeing as abnormal was all over the slide and was in fact, with respect, I can’t see any requirement to go on doing it?

A:   	Well I suppose it's just – when you set up processes in laboratories and when one – I suppose it was just a – without trying to be – it was a thoroughness concept.   Again remember that we did all this – I mean maybe we thought the abnormalities would stop one day.  I mean we didn’t know that. We also had set up a process, as I said we had a number of scientific stuff just working on the receiving, logging in, preparation of the slides and that process, I can promise you, in a big cytology laboratory you organise the processes accordingly.  Yes we could have stopped and maybe we should have stopped.  I don’t know but at the time, as I said, we weren’t – apart from being aware of the appearances which I’ve gone into extensively, we didn’t suddenly say alright well we don’t need to – we’ve found enough – I mean we didn’t think like that.

Q:   	I’m not suggesting for one moment you were wrong, but the effect of that was that in the recoverslip slides you were looking at about 20% more material than had been examined before.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	Which is a divergence from the secondary aim isn’t it.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	The next step is for and I quote “thorough and manual reading by senior cytotechnician as primary screener” and when Professor Duggan noticed that, what I think now was many weeks now, she made a comment which I think I am accurate in recounting as being different or a diversion or departure from normal procedures.  Was that a particular requirement of this process?

A:   	The senior cytotechnician was a requirement of the Health Funding Authority.  It was put in there as I explained yesterday to designate someone who was in fact qualified.  As I also explained yesterday we have a number of trainees in our dept at varying stages of training obviously and as much for medico-legal reasons as anything else we wanted to make sure that we actually had trained or completely trained and qualified staff.  Yes in our laboratory some smears are in fact screened by people who do not have their final exams because that occurs as part of their training, but often the biggest difference with the more junior people, because obviously we aren’t gonna allow anybody who is incompetent to sign out the slides, is that they are slower, they may only screen 20 slides a day rather than the 40-45 that we normally do, and the other thing that they do is that they actually are on a more complex checking process so their work gets more thoroughly checked which is more laborious in a way and of course we didn’t have the time or resources to do that for the re-screening  exercises so we wanted people who were relatively fast for want of a better word and experienced cytologists to do this and remember that the logistics of this exercise were enormous.

Q:   	No criticism of you at all.  The point I’m getting to is that again this is a major departure from the services available to Dr Bottrill who had no screener of any capacity available.

A:   	Oh yes. 

Q:   	And your next step is the targeted rescreening in accordance with the standard procedures and I understand that to be that any abnormality is examined by another screener.

A:   	Yes and in fact it's more than that.  Targeting rescreening is one of our major daily quality assurance  processes and it was included there because it's what we normally do.  I have already explained that we wanted to actually do what we normally do in the laboratory rather than set up different processes.

Q:   	And is it your practice that all abnormalities must be signed out by a pathologist?

A:   	Yes it is.

Q:   	Might that mean that as many as 3 people look at some slides?

A:   	That's exactly right.

Q:   	All abnormalities - three?

A:   	Yes all abnormalities will be looked at by 3 people.

Q:   	Another point of comparison, you conducted the exercise in 1999 and we’ve said many times of course that Dr Bottrill was doing it from 1991 to February 1996 and we have referred in your evidence and in the course of Professor McGoogan’s evidence to the publishing in 1995 by Mitchell and Medley, those are two Australian doctors known to you I think.

A:   	Absolutely.

Q:   	Was that a leading paper on the identification of false negatives?

A:   	Yes it was.

Q:   	The work of those authors and other work at that time and later increased the ability of technicians to recognise abnormalities?

A:   	They alerted scientists and pathologists to those appearances yes.

Q:   	Yes another aspect which has been touched on, there’s been litigation in Australia as there has been in America, based on alleged negligence in the reading of smears, particularly the O’Shea case which I imagine you are very familiar with.

A:   	Yes I am.

Q:   	Did the effect of litigation change of improve practices in laboratories?

A:   	I think certainly across the board litigation generally in Australia has altered medical practice not just in cytology.  It's something that doctors are very conscious of.  I personally – I mean I’m very aware that we have false negatives in our laboratory and I specifically have not changed by practice of cytology for any medico-legal reasons whether it's changed in other laboratories that may be the case but I don’t believe that – we don’t practice cytology the way we do for fear of being sued.

Q:   	But in Australia as elsewhere and it happens here too, there is the ongoing date about defensive medicine.

A:   	Absolutely.



CHAIR INTERJECTS & XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	If in Australia you had a choice as to whether or not a laboratory was accredited because I accept the position in Australia is that it is compulsory, but if you had a choice, say accreditation was voluntary, would the threat, or would the risk of being sued if you were negligent make you more likely to take on accreditation.

A:   	Yes it would although my own experience is that often if a laboratory doesn’t take on accreditation they – no no I guess generally yes, a laboratory would take on accreditation because they were afraid of being sued.  How that may help them or no I don’t really know but they may do it.



MR HODSON INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS 

MR HODSON:   	Dr Teague told us the other day that in his opinion the ability of the profession to recognise abnormality and to reject slides which should be rejected has changed and improved over time.  Would you agree with that?

A:   	In some places it has and one would hope, I do a lot of teaching, I spend a lot of time trying to improve cytology standards in Australia, and whether I’ve made any impact or not I’m not really sure but I think there is a growing recognition about the more difficult appearances but it's not universal no. 

Q:   	I would suggest that hopefully the profession in Australia and New Zealand and lets say in general and in particular your laboratory has improved over say the last 5 years.

A:   	Our laboratory – yes it's hard to quantify I suppose, we’re a lot bigger and a lot busier but as to it's actual standards, it had a pretty reasonable standard before I came and yes it may have improved.  Of course we didn’t have as many measures.  It's interesting the Douglas laboratory did all those QA things before I came so they were already part of the – they’d been doing those for a long time, all those quality assurance  measures that we’ve talked about.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Dr Farnsworth what year did you join the Sydney laboratory?

A:   	In Oct of 1995, Douglass Hanley Moir but it had in place all the checks and recall systems and all those other things.  I didn’t introduce, in fact I don’t think I introduced any extra quality assurance  measures.



MR HODSON CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS

MR HODSON:   	The point that I am making is that in what is obviously a large laboratory devoted to it's work and to it's quality procedures, employing the people it does and going about the re-reading  as it did, it would be quite astonishing if it didn’t have a better rate of call than Dr Bottrill.

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	I won’t ask you to quantify that.

A:   	I understand.

Q:   	In an earlier report, the reference is TMH/FA/85 but we didn’t get it out, it was said that the re-reading  was done using similar techniques to those used in the original reading, this was put to Dr McGoogan at page 1031.  She said no and I suggest that when you have said that the techniques you used are those which have been known and available, that may well be correct, but it's not the same as the conditions under which they were read by Dr Bottrill here in Gisborne.

A:   	No the conditions we read them under were quite different to Dr Bottrill’s conditions.

Q:   	Thank you.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Dr Farnsworth the conditions under which you read those slides, where they appropriate for the period 1990-1996?

A:   	I believe –

Q:   	The practice of cytopathology in that period.

A:   	Yes I believe that the same standards that were used in 1999 to do the re-read  were certainly available to us and certainly available in the body of literature in the period 1991 to March 1996.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Do you think it is a matter of good practice for a pathologist to work on his or her own reading cytology in circumstances where the pathologist is a the primary screener and is not participating in an external quality assurance  programme and is not subject to any accreditation programme such as TELARC?

A:   	No I don’t think it's good practice.

Q:   	Do you think there comes a time when a pathologist should  him or herself recognise that the circumstances in which he or she is practicing is not suitable for the purposes of cytology reading?

A:   	Yes I would like to think that a member of our profession would be able – if they couldn’t perform any test at a standard that was adequate for the purposes that they would make arrangements to – I mean there is an acceptable standard that any test is done at.  If you can’t do that at that standard, it's not a slur on you or anything it just means that you have to make other arrangements to meet those standards and I would have thought that a member of the profession, and we are talking about post-graduate qualifications in medicine here, we’re talking about a profession and there’s professional duty of care that arrangements could be made to meet those standards or other arrangements made for that test.

Q:   	Well given the circumstances in which Dr Bottrill was working and which I’ve just outlined to you, would you work in those circumstances?

A:   	No I would not.

Q:   	My understanding is that Dr Bottrill wanted to retire and was trying to sell his laboratory but had difficulty in finding a buyer for the laboratory.  If you were in those circumstances, would you continue to read cytology while you tried to find a buyer for the laboratory or would you send the cytology elsewhere.

A:   	Yes I would send the cytology elsewhere.



MR HODSON INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

MR HODSON:   	I should perhaps correct the impression.  The evidence that we have in a bulky file for the THL was that for upwards of 2 and a half years Dr Bottrill had a buyer and that was the hospital who not to put too find a point on it, strung him along until in circumstances of great discomfort to him, the deal was turned down and he sold elsewhere very quickly.

CHAIR:   	Right well we’ll put that to the witness as well.  



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS 

CHAIR:   	Dr Farnsworth if you were in a position where you had a laboratory which you wished to sell, you were working on your own,  you were doing primary screening, your laboratory was not accredited and you did not participate in an external quality assurance programme, if you had a buyer for the laboratory, actually for the goodwill, it wasn’t for the laboratory it was for the goodwill, and that buyer kept you in a state of suspense let us say for 2 years, would you in those circumstances during that two year period while you were kept in a state of suspense by the buyer, continue to read cytology?

A:   	No I would not.



MR HODSON ADDRESSES CHAIR

MR HODSON:   	I could continue that debate but it can wait until Dr Bottrill comes.  The point we’ve discussed at some length about the keratinization of some of the smears, I think that you re-read  approximately 23,000 smears at the rate of 1,200 a week.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	That's 19 or 20 weeks?

A:   	Yes that would be right.

Q:   	And you told us that you saw one of that particular type of smear about once a week?

A:   	Approximately I hope I made it clear that they were very approximate numbers.

Q:   	So something of the order of 20?

A:   	Yes.

Q:   	Have you any idea of any comparative New Zealand study as to whether that phenomenon is experienced anywhere else in this country?

A:   	No I have no knowledge of that.

Q:   	So we cannot assume that it was only Gisborne that was producing this particular characteristic.

A:   	Absolutely.

Q:   	Thank you very much.



CHAIR ADDRESSES INQUIRY

CHAIR:   	I think Mr Kirton was going to go next.  How much longer are we going to be.  I know that Mr Hindle has suggested to me we take a break at some point.  I’m just trying to work out whether it is appropriate.  How long will you be Mr Kirton.

MR KIRTON:   	No more than quarter of an hour ma’am.

CHAIR:   	Well we’ll deal with your questions and then after you.  Is there anyone else apart from counsel assisting?  



MS PHIPPS REPLIES

MS PHIPPS:   	Ma’am I’m entirely in the committee’s hands about this but there is something that arises in paragraph 11 regarding rapid re-screening  and I had simply accessed some abstracts which might be of assistance in respect of whether this is a quality assurance  activity that should continue but if it's not something that concerns this committee particularly, it can be left.  It's entirely a matter for you.

CHAIR:   	My understanding Ms Phipps was that rapid re-screening  wasn’t done.  I don’t automatically see where it fits into the terms of reference but equally until I hear your evidence I don’t really want to be making rulings on admissibility of something I haven’t heard.

MS PHIPPS:   	It's not a matter of admissibility it's whether it would assist.  It's simply that this witness is saying that the rapid re-screening  isn’t a quality assurance  activity that is used by Sonic and it's whether you wish to hear evidence about whether it should continue or not in New Zealand, it would have been a brief point, but I agree that it's not of great –

CHAIR:   	Well if it wasn’t used we’re not interested in what the general practice – we’re not here to comment on the general practice of laboratories and what quality assurance  measures they should be or shouldn’t be following so if it wasn’t used at all and it's not relevant, we don’t want to hear about it.

MS PHIPPS:   	That's fine ma’am.



CHAIR ADDRESSES MR KIRTON

CHAIR:   	Mr Kirton if you go.  Perhaps what we’ll go to 5:30.  How long are you going to be Mr Hindle?



MR HINDLE REPLIES

MR HINDLE:   	Very brief indeed and Dr Farnsworth has just indicated that if she had a choice she’s prefer to keep going.

CHAIR:   	Alright we’ll keep going then.



MR KIRTON REPLIES

MR KIRTON:   	There’s just one matter Madam Chair with regard to an exhibit which unfortunately at the time we didn’t give a number and we’re subsequently scrambling to find it.  It's to do with the New Zealand Medical Association Code of Ethics which was distributed.  I put it to Professor McGoogan and it would be useful to put that in front of the witness.

CHAIR:   	I think that was a document that at the time you were trying to produce and I suggested you wait and produce it through the Medical Council which of course have now given their evidence.

MR KIRTON:   	Entirely.

CHAIR:   	We’re getting Dr Peters back aren’t we Mr Murray?



MR MURRAY REPLIES

MR MURRAY:   	Well we’re getting a report but we didn’t get material back from Dr Peters, the question is how we get that additional material into evidence.

CHAIR:   	I’m just trying to think of whether we’ve got another New Zealand doctor available whose going to give evidence who can confirm that this is the current code.

MR MURRAY:   	Dr Cox may be able to help us there or Dr Skeggs.

CHAIR:   	OK one of those two well lets see what this witness, lets see how far we can get with this document but we won’t produce it just yet.

MR MURRAY:   	I just wanted to help out whether someone has another copy.



[Document produced to witness]

MR KIRTON XXN WITNES

MR KIRTON:   	Dr Farnsworth you have in front of you a document entitled Code of Ethics of the New Zealand Medical Association.  This is a document I understand which is universally applicable to New Zealand medical practitioners whether in fact they are or are not members of the medical association, that's my understanding of it's status.  I wonder whether I could turn you to the sheet labeled 2, under the heading code of ethics, principals of ethical behavior applicable to all physicians including those not engaged directly in clinical practice under 1, consider the health and wellbeing of your patient to be your first priority.  Can I take you back to some of the questions raised by Madam Chair in regard to the practice of Dr Bottrill in the circumstances that have been described.  Do you think the continuing practice of Dr Bottrill in those circumstances complied with that first code of ethics?

A:   	I mean I would really rather not comment on Dr Bottrill’s – why he chose to do things, that's not really for me to say and – I mean I will say that it is paramount at all levels of pathology whether you are a pathologist in a laboratory or whether you are a clinician, that one should keep patient’s wellbeing paramount.

Q:   	Yes I appreciate that position and I will modify that line of questioning.  I do want to go to the issue ma’am of whether in fact slide reading is a part, an integral part of patient management and whether in fact the persons for whom the slide is being read can be regarded to be the patient’s of that clinician so that's the premise I’m coming from, I’ll rephrase.

A:   	I mean I will answer that –



MR HODSON INTERJECTS

MR HODSON:   	With regard ma’am so what and this is not an ethicist. 



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS 

CHAIR:   	Well hold on.  Lets just ask, as a pathologist Dr Farnsworth do you consider that when you are asked to report on a slide of a smear test for a woman that that woman is your patient?

A:   	Absolutely, and in our practice – I mean it's an absolute daily comment from me that no one should ever forget that there’s a patient at the end of every pap smear and it's actually a code of one the whole of Douglass Hanley Moir’s comments is that it's very easy in a laboratory and especially we have a huge laboratory, to forget that, so it's very much part of both our cytology practice but part of our large laboratory practice.  It's a daily catch cry.

Q:   	And do you consider therefore as a pathologist when you are reading a slide with a smear test on it that you owe a duty of care in a medical sense in terms of the ethics under which you operate under the Australian Medical Association to the patient?

A:   	Absolutely.



CHAIR ADDRESSES MR KIRTON

CHAIR:    I don’t think we can take it much further Mr Kirton do you want to?

MR KIRTON:   	Yes there's just one other aspect of it and I’m grateful to you for working through that particular aspect, but there is the issue of practice in New Zealand and Australia –

CHAIR:   	Perhaps the only thing I think you can do with this witness is ask you how she would practice.  I don’t think you should so much ask her to comment on someone else’s practice but just say how would you practice, would you do this in the circumstance.

MR KIRTON:   	Yes that's the appropriate approach.



MR KIRTON CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MR KIRTON:   	In your practice in Australia when you are doing to the re-read – I’ll ask it another way – Does the duty of care that you recognise in your practice, is it universal, in other words, does it apply in clinical practice wherever you are, if you are in New Zealand or Australia, do you have the same duty of care?

A:   If I practised in NZ I would have the same duty of care to my patients.

Q:   So irrespective of the conditions in which you were working, it is your obligation, is it, to practise the science and art of medicine to the best of your ability in full technical and moral independence and with compassion and respect for human dignity?

A:   Yes, that’s the way I would practice medicine wherever I practised, or I would attempt to.  I don’t say I’m perfect.

Q:   Would you recognise your own limitations in the special skills of others in the prevention and treatment of disease?

A:   I would constantly, and am very aware of my own limitations.  I would hope that one would take some corrective action, but that’s often not easy either, I can promise you.

Q:   Do you think it’s a universally applicable component of your practice to strive to improve the standards and quality of medical services wherever you are?

A:   Yes, I would  hope that I attempted that.

Q:   Do you regard it to be your duty at all times, and at all times must have regard to your patient or patients collectively as over-riding any loyalty to any employer or other health provider entity, in particular not to allow commercial interests to interfere with that?

A:   Absolutely.  It’s a daily conundrum, I can promise you, but it’s a very real one in the medical profession and it’s one that we need to be constantly aware of.  And, as I say, in our practice we are a very big commercial organization and it is something which we do grapple with and it is something that we would always aim to uphold beyond any commercial values, I suppose, or any commercial considerations.

Q:  And finally Dr Farnsworth, do you consider those aspects that I've outlined to be strongly held ethical obligations of any clinician anywhere?

A:    Yes, one would hope that other professionals would uphold those ethics.

Thank you very much.



CHAIR:   Just before we hear from counsel assisting, Mr Hodson it strikes me Mr Kirton is in difficulties in the sense that he didn't put this code to the Medical Council, we didn't have them confirm it.  

MR HODSON:   I have no difficulty with your receiving the code, ma'am.

CHAIR:   Yes, because I was thinking it might be publicly available;  it may be a self-proving document – I don’t know.  The other thought I had is that if it did need to be proved, the one doctor that I know that we have coming up is Dr Bottrill and if we did need to prove it it might be easier if you got him to confirm this is the code rather than someone do it in cross-examination.

MR HODSON:   No problem with that ma'am.

CHAIR:   Mr Hindle?



XXD MR HINDLE:   

Q:   Dr Farnsworth, I just want to start by tidying up perhaps something that came out in evidence yesterday.  You recall that you were talking about comparative incidence figures.

A:   Hmm.

Q:   And you talked about I think Australia had an incidence of cervical cancer of 9/100,000.

A:   Yes, I did.

Q:   And I think Vietnam 27/100,000.

A:   That’s what I quoted, yep.

Q:   And the figure for Gisborne 30/100,000?

A:   Yes.

Q:   Now I take it the figure of 30/100,000 comes from the work that Mr duRose did?

A:   And also this Ministry document.

Q:   And if we look at that, I don’t think we need to take you to it, but will you accept it from me that the figure produced by Mr duRose is a figure for the target screening population – ie women from 20 to 69 years rather than for the whole female population?

A:   Yes, and in fact these numbers, as you are alluding to, can be presented in a number of different ways.  They can be presented for the target population, they can be presented for the whole population, and of course as we also heard about age adjusted figures, we also heard about hysterectomy fractions.  So the figure that Mr duRose is talking about is 30/100,000.  Of the targeted –

Q:   Targeted women?

A:   Yep.

Q:   Can we just get this clear:  the third world figures of 27/100,000, would that be the whole population of females or just the target population?

A:   I think that’s the whole population, although I don’t know.  I can't be 100% sure.

Q:   It’s just that some epidemiologists that I know have raised this issue and have suggested that that might not be quite an apples for apples comparison.

A:   Yes.

Q:   And do you accept that if the figures for Vietnam and Australia were for the whole female population –

A:   Although, no I think they are – I mean, most numbers I’m talking about are things that I have read or seen presented, and they are usually presented as appropriate age adjusted figures.

Q:   But does it boil down to this, that you're not really sure whether –

A:   Absolutely, yep.

Q:   The 9/100,000 –

A:   The 9/100,000 in Australia – in fact, they are the very latest numbers.  Well, isn't it interesting, I’m pretty sure but I can't – I’m too tired.

Q:   We don’t need to take it any further, I just wanted to raise the possibility that that was something we would need to check -

A:   Oh yes.

Q:   - to make sure we've got an apples for apples comparison in those numbers -

A:   Quite right.

Q:   - and someone else can do it if they feel strongly about it.

A:   Yep.

Q:   The only other topic I wanted to ask you about really is this question that Mr Hodson raised with you concerning the objectives of the Sydney re-read and the objective of ensuring that women receive appropriate treatment – that’s about the health and wellbeing of the women, and the other objective about determining the extent of the problem with regard to the pathologist concerned.  Now again, like Mr Hodson, I hope it’s clear that nothing I've said or say or suggest is intended as any criticism at all of the industry and professionalism with which the work’s been done.

A:   Yes.

Q:   And it really – and I hope you can also understand that there is an obligation in an Inquiry like this to actually be a little bit rigorous about testing –

A:   Yes, yes, no, go right ahead.

Q:   - the information that’s come through.  And of course, well can I ask you are you familiar with the discussion that I had on this subject with Tracy Mellor.  I know you weren't here, but –

A:   No, I’m not.  I must admit I think I've read all the transcripts, but at this stage of the day I can't remember your particular cross-examination of Tracy.

Q:   It was just around the question of whether there was – I won't call it a conflict of interest, but perhaps something of a tension between those two objectives and a concern that maybe the effort to ensure that the health and wellbeing of women who might be affected was properly attended to could in some way have made it a bit more difficult to judge the extent of the problem with the pathologist concerned?

A:   I am aware of that tension and I do understand that as it’s been raised, but I will go back to my statements I think of yesterday was that, yes, we were aware that this was a Gisborne re-read.  I mean the slides that came through the laboratories we didn't try – well, I mean, they couldn't be hidden, apart from some incredibly elaborate procedure.  But they were read as normal.  Of course we were conscious that our results were going to be compared to the original laboratory reading and ERGO – that could an issue, but so too were we concerned for the women.   But the reporting that we did were the standard practices in our laboratory that we do every day – the criteria, the cytological criteria we used to report those slides are the same criteria.  We didn't apply anything other than our normal practices to the re-read slides.  And so people were conscious of it, but it did not affect in any way our reporting of those slides.

Q:   I have no quarrel, I’m really wondering – 

A:   No, no, but –

Q:   - whether it might have affected not so much what you did but the way you might have approached the job.  Perhaps I can just ask this question.  Mr Hodson asked you if you’d only had the one objective of the health and wellbeing of the woman would you have done anything different and you said no.  Let me flip that on it's head.  If you’d only had the objective of trying to determine the extent of the problem with the pathologist concerned, would you have done it differently.

A:   	No.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	Dr Farnsworth if you were just looking at trying to look at the extent of the problem concerned with the pathologist would you not have for example have made a record of all the unusually abnormal slides that you saw.  Would you not have photographed those unusually abnormal slides.

A:   	Yes I suppose what I was talking about was the actual basic processes that we took so – and yes certainly when I answered that, we wouldn’t have changed, meaning we wouldn’t have had more qualified cytologists, all of those things, we would have known – but oh absolutely, if I had realised that a) we would – you know the appearances we saw and obviously this whole process was gonna happen, we could have done – we could have quantified things, we could have photographed things, we could have made much greater detail, and by the way not just from the comparative – I mean scientifically it would have been – you know a very – there would have been lots of things we could have done.

Q:   	Well you could have for example categorised how many keratinized slides –

A:   	I would have done a lot of extra things, I would have even looked at – I mean although it was recorded – I mean I didn’t in my work know kind of the histories of the women you know there were a number of women who had numbers of pap smears and there would have been a lot of different things.



MR HINDLE INTERJECTS & XXN WITNESS

MR HINDLE:   	I guess that's really the point we could probably speculate for a long time as to what you might have done if you’d just been given that single job for example you might have wanted a lot more information about the standards to which Dr Bottrill was practicing, all those things.

A:   	A lot of different things yes.  But as I said we didn’t – it's funny isn’t it we didn’t even – well you’ve got to remember and I’ll say this, I’ve said it before, we didn’t expect to find what we found when we set this up.

Q:   	No and it's proper to say too that you brief was settled long before this inquiry was announced and the terms of reference were developed.

A:   	Absolutely.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	You weren’t engaged to provide evidence for the committee of inquiry on whether or not there was under-reporting by Dr Bottrill.

A:   	No that was not my job.



MR HINDLE INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

MR HINDLE:   	And I suppose the other factor to factor in is that, or the other thing to take account of is that in exploring that tension between the objectives, am I right to think you’d say that really no matter whether there was a tension or not, the facts, the data that's been produced, do support the indicators that you discussed with Professor Duggan this afternoon?

A:   	Absolutely.

Q:   	Thank you that's all I wanted to ask.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	My understanding of your evidence is you don’t see a tension between the two.

A:   	No I don’t.

CHAIR:   	That's fine.



MR MURRAY INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

MR MURRAY:   	I just have one very quick matter to round off if Dr Farnsworth could be shown the supplementary exhibits produced by Dr Peters, exhibit 42 in that volume.  Dr Peters did actually produce a document in here exhibit 42, if you turn it up it's headed the evaluation and monitoring plan for our New Zealand cervical screening programme and it's headed Summary of Issues for Discussion by Working Party, not in force yet but about to be, and I just wonder if I could ask you to look at the laboratory section of that document, it starts at page 15.  Could I just ask you is this section of this document very similar to the performance standards for Australian laboratories that you referred to earlier in that green booklet?

A:   	Is there a number of them or just one?

Q:   	Pages 15.

A:   	They’re very similar.  I haven’t actually looked at the numbers and of course they’ve included maori and non-maori data.

Q:   	On page 15 under laboratory they’ve got community laboratory smear reporting, they’ve got targets and reporting requirements for that, then over the page they’ve got turnaround time and targets in reporting requirements, then on page 17 –

A:   	Of unsatisfactories – yes they’re very similar.



PROFESSOR DUGGAN INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

PROFESSOR DUGGAN:   	Dr Farnsworth does it go further than the Australian standard?

A:   	Not really apart from – no actually it's just the left hand column.

Q:   	Yes.

A:   	Sorry I was getting confused.  

Q:   	There are several pages.

A:   	No they are.  I think they’re the five performance standards.  They are the five performance standards.



CHAIR INTERJECTS AND XXN WITNESS

CHAIR:   	It would be helpful if Dr Farnsworth could be shown Dr Wain’s exhibit which actually has the Australian standards.

A:   	No we had that this morning, I have it right here and I can – I do think I know them by heard but I can tell you at the end of the day –



MR MURRAY INTERJECTS & XXN WITNESS

MR MURRAY:   	Better just confirm that it's the same documents, we have it in Dr Wain’s volume and I think it's exactly the same document it's at Dr Wain’s 6.

A:   	We’ve already exhibited it.

Q:   	Page 306 and it's I think –

A:   	The actual standards are exactly the same.  Number of unsatisfactories is 0.5 – 5,  actually wait a second, yes they’ve even includes GP’s nurses and lay smear takers, so that one’s fine.  The turnaround time one is the same.  I’ll just check I think it's 90%.  Number of unreported, that's the same.  Yeah they are all the same.

Q:   	And just to round this off if you could just remind us the Australian ones are actually now being applied aren’t they for accreditation agency.

A:   	That's right.

Q:   	Unless there are any more questions.



CHAIR ADDRESSES MR MURRAY

CHAIR:   	It would help me Mr Murray if you could tell me where in Dr Wain’s exhibits these standards appear?

MR MURRAY:   	At page 306, I just had a quick look at the contents page at page 309 and that seems to list the various performance measures there but I didn’t go into the detail myself but Dr Farnsworth is probably very familiar with that detail.

CHAIR:   	It just seemed to me that the document, the contents at 309 in Dr Wain’s exhibit was more detailed in this document attached to Dr Farnsworth’s.



WITNESS REPLIES

DR FARNSWORTH:	Yes exactly.  They are different.  What Madam Chair has is different.

MR MURRAY:   	I’m not sure what you’re looking at.

DR FARNSWORTH:	Madam Chair is looking at the INPAC.  This has been produced in evidence.  This is the actual description of the performance standards which you don’t have there.



MR HINDLE ADDRESSES CHAIR

MR HINDLE:   	Can I help the standards which Dr Farnsworth is holding are at page 306 of Dr Wain’s exhibits but the requirements for gynecological cytology are a different document which appear at the back end of Dr Farnsworth’s.

CHAIR:   	Yes I understand that's why I was confused when I saw Dr Farnsworth referring to a document, it would have been easier if she’d referred to Dr Wain’s exhibit then I would have known for sure what she was talking about.  I just want to get accuracy in transcript, and there’s room for confusion when a witness holds up a document and starts talking about it so can we just confirm that the standards that Dr Farnsworth has just been comparing to Peter’s exhibit 42 is in fact the document that appears in Wain exhibit and it starts at page 306.

A:   	Yes it does.



MR MURRAY CONTINUES XXN OF WITNESS 

MR MURRAY:   	And the two documents, the Australian one and the New Zealand one are comparable.

A:   	Well what we’re doing is actually just talking about the left hand column in this Peters document.  There are a number of explanatory notes that go across the page.  They are not the same but if we are talking about the standards there, they are enumerated differently, but they are in essence the same standards.

Q:   	Right thank you.



CHAIR ADDRESSES MR MURRAY

CHAIR:   	Well who do we have tomorrow Mr Murray?

MR MURRAY:   	Well after Dr Wain I presume in the morning I would then resume with calling Tracey Mellor and then after that Mr DuRose so we’re not looking too good from a timing point of view.

CHAIR:   	No it doesn’t look as it we’re going to get around to Mr Lambie because we might even have Mr DuRose going into Saturday.

MR MURRAY:   	That's my estimate Madam Chair.

CHAIR:   	Ah well, we may have to sit next Saturday as well.  Can anyone tell me how we stand with Dr Cameron.

MR MURRAY:   	Madam Chair before we just go on to that could I just clarify one point.  I think the start and finish time on Saturday is quite important.

CHAIR:   	9-1.

MR MURRAY:   	Well we are on a 1:20 flight on Saturday and after that we’re not on any flight because the flights are so bad and my suggestion is that we start as early as possible  on Saturday morning to maximize the time but leave here at possibility  12:30.  So 8:30 to 12:30 might be the way to tackle that.  

CHAIR:   	Well we don’t have Mrs Barrett here to consult with at the minute.  Yeah I think 8:30 to 12:30 is what we will have to do.

MR MURRAY:   	So on that basis I won’t ring Dr Lambie up but I will have Mr DuRose readily available to carry on on Saturday.  Yes that would be fine and Mrs Marshall, you will be alright for Saturday will you?

MRS MARSHALL:		Yes.



CHAIR ADDRESSES MR HINDLE

CHAIR:   	What is the position with Dr Cameron?

MR HINDLE:   	We had another meeting this morning.  The position is that Dr Cameron’s situation is still unresolved.  There are two sentences or one sentence in the brief to which Ms Phipps has some objections and Mr Grieve has some questions and we haven’t yet managed to trash out a result but please leave it with me because it does seem a bit silly to have two sentences hold us back from solving this.

CHAIR:   	Are the sentences directly relevant to the terms of reference. 

MR HINDLE:   	Not in my view but my friend Mr Grieve disagrees.

CHAIR:   	We could always have an argument about that.

MR HINDLE:   	Well perhaps I better let my friend speak.

CHAIR:   	The other thing I understand anyway is that there is a funding difficulty with Dr Cameron coming to the inquiry so if there’s no one to fund him coming it doesn’t look like he’ll come anyway.



MR KIRTON REPLIES

MR KIRTON:   	The funding issue is not a vital factor Madam Chair.  It can happen if that is the wish.

CHAIR:   	Right lets deal with Dr Cameron now so I can have the pleasure of crossing someone else off the list if possible.



MR HINDLE REPLIES

MR HINDLE:   	Could I just ask a different  subject altogether, Dr Wain is due to fly out tomorrow at 1 o’clock?  It would be helpful to know whether, if we start at 9:30 my sense is that Dr Wain would be free by then but if anyone strongly disagrees it would be helpful to know now because it does actually commit him to spending a weekend in New Zealand.

CHAIR:   	Yes well would it be better if we started at 9 or even 8:30.

MR HINDLE:   	It's really a question of how much people want to ask I mean 9:30 to 12:30 with a break is just short of 3 hours.  I would have thought that would be enough easily.

CHAIR:   	What are the indications from everyone about Dr Wain.



MR KIRTON REPLIES

MR KIRTON:   	About 40 mins ma’am.

CHAIR:   	40 mins anyone else.



MR CORKILL REPLIES

MR CORKILL:   	No more than 15 mins ma’am.

CHAIR:   	Well that looks as if we can safely start at 9:30.



MR HINDLE ADDRESSES CHAIR

MR HINDLE:   	I have a copy of Mr Cameron’s brief.  

CHAIR:   	What are the sentences that are objectionable.

MR HINDLE:   	Paragraph 17 ma’am and in fact it's just one sentence.  The sentence which ends that paragraph.  Michael Churchhouse was professionally castigated from making these facts known to the press and I was persona non grata with the Society of Pathologists for supporting the MLTB proposals and statutory control and supervision of unqualified laboratory workers.  As I understand it Ms Phipps’ objection to that is one of substance and Mr Grieve wanted to ask some questions of Dr Cameron about it.  My own view for what it's worth ma’am is that the evidence – if it is properly the subject of challenge, it would be completely within the norm to put a red line through that and I must say I would have thought really that piece of evidence doesn’t warrant the sort of attention it's getting now.

CHAIR:   	Who is Mr Churchhouse.

MR HINDLE:   	He was the laboratory man, you may recall that there was a memorandum put to Dr Teague about and it referred to the Weed study and a number of questions were asked of him about the position of laboratory training and the shortage of technicians etc. and I think that's – of course this is not Michael Churchhouse’s brief, it's Dr Cameron’s brief and as I say my own sense of it is that this sentence doesn’t warrant the attention it's getting even now.

CHAIR:   	Well I’ll hear from you Ms Phipps.



MS PHIPPS ADDRESSES CHAIR

MS PHIPPS:   	The objection is 1) relevance to the terms of reference; 2) that it hasn’t been put; 3) that it's a witness talking about what happened to somebody else with no factual foundation for it; and 4) there is absolutely no evidence given to support it when this affidavit went in.  I think that everybody that has inspected the College’s files where produced can confirm there is no such thing as a persona non grata list and to suggest that any society could have a view like that really stretches the bounds of probability.  It would be the same as saying that someone is persona non grata with the Law Society when most of us have never heard of that particular person.  That's it in a nutshell ma’am.

CHAIR:   	Right.  So it's Dr Cameron saying that Michael Churchhouse was professionally castigated which technically is hearsay unless he was there at the time and that he Dr Cameron then was persona non grata with the Society of Pathologists for supporting the LMTB proposals and statutory control and supervision of unqualified laboratory workers which you say wasn’t put to any of the College.



MR GRIEVE ADDRESSES CHAIR

MR GRIEVE:   	Madam Chair I think Mr Kirton should begin, it's his witness, you will be saying if it's relevant, all I indicated to my learned friend is that I would want to be heard on the matter but I don’t think I should be leading the argument.

CHAIR:   	No well Mr Kirton why do you want to include this passage in paragraph 17.

MR GRIEVE:   	Madam Chair in the first instance it became a mater of form in terms of how that passage was dealt with, whether in fact we were to go through a process of obtaining further an affidavit on an affidavit, but the second issue which goes to the content itself and that is so far we’ve got in evidence for example Mr Jones’ addendum which I would suggest on a very similar line and without the so called qualifications that Ms Phipps has asked for, however that's of less importance in terms of this document.  I think the standard of evidence is not as high as would be indicated in normal circumstances and already in this inquiry we’ve had broad and wide ranging opinion which would not meet the test that Ms Phipps has put to you.  

CHAIR:   	The only concern I do have Mr Kirton is this issue that it wasn’t put to any of the Royal College witnesses because in respect of Mr Jones’ addendum, his comments about misplaced loyalty related to the article in the pathologists magazine article called the Tie Line and both Dr Tie and I think Dr Teague were questioned quite extensively about that article and the bulletin and whether or not it indicated a certain mind set and a closing of ranks perhaps or whatever whereas here from my recall of the evidence there has been no mention of Dr Cameron and no suggestion that he was offside with the College as a result of his supporting proposals on statutory control and supervision of unqualified laboratory workers, that's the different factor here.

A:   	I entirely accept that and appreciate the timing issue is important.  However there is the issue of the objection being raised post-event and it is difficult to have the objection dealt with those witnesses having gone and that is a difficulty however I accept entirely that opportunity to be heard by those parties on that.

Q:   	Yes and I realise lawyers would know that there is an obligation to put evidence to witnesses in respect of evidence yet to be called.  I don’t have the same expectations of you though.  You’ve conducted yourself very well to date in this inquiry.  Other people have had this brief for some time.



MS PHIPPS INTERJECTS

MS PHIPPS:   	Just on that ma’am I think it should be clarified that this objection was made known many weeks ago and certainly before the College gave evidence.

CHAIR:   	To whom did you make it known to.

MS PHIPPS:   	Mr Kirton ma’am.



CHAIR ADDRESSES MR KIRTON

CHAIR:   	Mr Kirton do you have anything more to say?

MR KIRTON:   	Yes, Ms Phipps does catch me unawares.  I’m intrigued to know at what opportunity that was raised, however, we can perhaps discuss that later.

CHAIR:   	Yes well the difficulty is it's considered to be unfair process if you don’t recall evidence critical of someone and they give evidence beforehand if you fail to put it to them in cross examination so they’ve got an opportunity to comment on it, it is seen as unfair process and that is what is concerning me.

MR KIRTON:   	I fully appreciate the point and it won’t happen again.

CHAIR:   	Fine.  Mr Grieve?



MR GRIEVE ADDRESSES CHAIR

MR GRIEVE:   	Madam Chair just very briefly on this.  Relevance in my submissions, it goes to this question of misplaced loyalty shall we say.  I won’t go through all that again.  In terms of the sentence itself, I suppose I preface this remark by saying, and I won’t go through it all again either, but admissibility, the strict rules don’t apply as Madam Chair knows.  Dealing with the sentence itself, I accept that the initial clauses relating to Michael Churchhouse that is of course hearsay from this witness so to that extent it is more objectionable than the second part, but I would for myself again point to the lack of strict requirement for admissibility in this hearing.  As far as the second part of the sentence is concerned, the witness can speak to that, is a matter of fact as he observed it, he is entitled, perhaps I should say, has no hearsay objection to it.  Whether there is factual foundation for it is something that he can be cross examined about.

CHAIR:   	Well there are two difficulties with it if we are going to be, one is more technical than the other.  The first one is that when he says I was persona non grata he is really giving an opinion.  I mean what he really had to do was say what the College did to him and we can then draw our own conclusions and whether that adds up to being personal non grata, but he can’t just say I was persona non grata, we need to know what happened to him.  That's a more technical objection.  The one that does concern me more is the fact that it is evidence that is, if you take it at face value, is critical of the College, College witnesses has been called, this brief has been circulated in advance, Mr Kirton wasn’t to know, but you would have known, the need to put any critical material to members of the College if you ultimately wanted to rely on it yourself.  They haven’t had an opportunity to comment on it, so in that sense it does strike me as being unfair and in breach of the rule in Brown & Dunne to let this information in and that is what really concerns me most of all.

MR GRIEVE:   	Madam Chair in that regard I would say 1) that goes to weight and I accept it also goes to fairness and if necessary if it's ascribed to the ascribed weight, the fairness question could be resolved by recalling one of the College witnesses.

CHAIR:   	Well recall would be one way of dealing with it if we had time.  But we don’t have time.  In terms of weight, I don’t believe it does go to weight.  I’ve known in the past where it can in fact stop someone from pursuing a line of questioning and the other thing that is really also in my mind is this.  When you put it as a matter of weight anyway, because we say here that the standard of evidence is not as high in this inquiry, even if it's let in, if something is let in where there are these various tags to the evidence the weight is reduced considerably.  I also think that in terms of dealing with the terms of evidence, although strictly speaking it comes within the scope, it is remote in the sense that I see there being other matters that I would see as more paramount as being factors that lead to under-reporting.  I would put this at the outer margins, although within, so given this remoteness in a sense, the lack of weight that it has anyway and the time constraints and the fact that we ultimately I think it's really a question of has the committee heard sufficient evidence to enable it to report to the Minister on the terms of reference because obviously if we had a year we could think of many other issues which we could say could lead to under-reporting, taking all those factors into account, and I must say I am influenced by the fact that if we delete this sentence, the brief can come in as an affidavit, I am minded at this late stage to take a pragmatic approach based on it is of little weight and I am very concerned about the unfairness to the College and on that basis to say the sentence should go.

MR GRIEVE:   	I’m sure we won’t be racing off to the Court of Appeal Madam Chair!

CHAIR:   	I am very relieved!



MR HINDLE

MR HINDLE:   	On that basis ma’am we do actually have an affidavit in  sworn affidavit form with that sentence in it.

CHAIR:   	Do we?  Well as I’ve said if we have an affidavit, as I’ve said, that that paragraph is inadmissible, it can be struck out, and the Affidavit accepted with that sentence struck out so Madam Registrar if you’d strike the sentence out please.

MR HINDLE:   	And I’ll make this original copy affidavit available to Madam Registrar.  That will sort Dr Cameron out.

CHAIR:   	Right well if you can strike out now just so we check that it's paragraph 17.  Very well, we’ll adjourn until 9:30 tomorrow.



INQUIRY ADJOURNS UNTIL 9:30 

TOMORROW FRIDAY 21 JULY 2000
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